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Invest Bank P.S.C.

Board of Directors’ Report

Dear Sharcholders,

It is my pleasure to welcome you to our annual general meeting, and present to you this Directors’ Report
and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018, as set out in the
accompanying consolidated financial statemens,

Financial Performance

2018 proved to be a challenging year for Invest Bank. Years of weak governance and credit underwriting
and monitoring practices, compounded by a subdued economic environment, led to a significant
deterioration in asset quality.

The Bank booked AED 1,695 million in impairment provisions, resulting in a net loss of AED 1,472 million
and the Bank’s equity to drop to AED 747 million. The capital adequacy ratio fell to 6.2% and the Bank’s
fotal assets reduced to AED 14,026 million in 2018, from AED 16,949 million in 31 December 2017,
Customer deposits stood at AED 12,635 million, 7% lower than the 2017 balance of AED 13,594 miltion.
Net [oans were AED 10,075 million, compared to AED 12,466 miliion in 2017, down by 19%.

‘The Bank posted operating income of AED 509 million compared to AED 795 million in 2017, a decrease
of 36%, while the net operating profit before impairment loss reached AED 223 million, 2 decrease 0f 63%
compared to the previous year. This was mainly on account of fower net interest income.

Net interest income decreased by 26% from 2017 to AED 394 million, as a consequence of the deterioration
in the credit portfolio. Non-interest income reached AED 114 million, a 56% decline from 2017, impacied
by restricted credit underwriting from lower capital adequacy and more stringent underwriting criteria,

In response to the critical situation, the Board took serious measures to enhance its corporate governance
at the level of both the board and management, and to strengthen the areas around credit underwriting and
monitoring. The Board hired a new Chief Executive QOfficer, Chief Risk Officer, Chief Operating Officer
and several other senior management staff. After considering various alternatives to recapitalize the Bank
and protect the interests of its shareholders and to prepare itself for its future business needs, the Board
agreed to a proposed strategic investment from the Governnient of Shariah, subsequently approved by you,
our sharcholders, at your previous meeting held on 10 Aprii 2019,

Under the terms of the strategic investient, the Government of Sharjah has committed to invest up to AED
1,900 million in two-stages, Firstly, the Government of Sharjah has injected AED 1,115 miliion, in
exchange for a 50.07% stake in the Bank. Secendly, the Government of Sharjah has underwritten, to an
extent of AED 785 million, a future rights issue {o raise additional capital, expected to ocour before the end
of 2019,

This strategic investment has set the stage for a mutually beneficial and long-term strategic partnership
between Invest Bank and the Government of Sharjah. The top priority will be to keep improving the Bank’s
assel quality by reinforcing enhancements to risk processes and policies, strengthening underwriting
standards, and implementing portfolio management best practice. Over the mediom term, we aim to return
the Bank fo profitable growth through a swategy that improves operating margins and taps into
comumerciaily viable epportunities,



I am pleased to introduce to you our new board, which wiil compromise of the following members:

Chairman: H.E. Sheikh Sultan Bin Ahmed Bin Sultan Al Qasimi
Vice Chairman: Mr. Omran Abdulla Omran Taryam
Members: H.E. Waleed Ibrahim Al Sayegh

Mr, Ahmed Mohammed Hamad AkMidfa
Mr, Ummer Said Mohamed Ummer

M. Fares Hmeid Treis Said Al Mazroui
Mr. Robert Douglas Dowie

I look forward to working with the Board and the management team to set Invest Bank on a sustainable
growth path to create long-term value for shareholders, clients and the wider UAE economy.

Personally and on behalf of the entire Board, 1 would like to express our sincere gratitude and appreciation
to His Highness Sheikh Dr. Sultan bin Mohammed Al Qasimi, Member of the Supreme Council and Ruler
of Sharjah, for his guidance and support, without which invest Bank would not have been able to withstand
the chalienging circumstances it faced.

On your behaif, I would also like to thank the bank’s management and staff for their hard work, dedication
and commitment, and look forward to their continued contributions in this new and exciting chapter of
invest Bank.

On behalf of the Board

A\

H.E. Sheikh Sulfan Iin Abfed Bin Sultan Al Qasimi
Chairman
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Invest bank

P.S.C.

Report on the audit of the consclidated financial statements

Our apigéczn ''''''
I our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in allt material respects, the
consolidated financial position of invest bank P.8.C. (the “Bank") and its subsidiary (together the “Group”)
as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial performance and its consofidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financlal Reporting Standards.

What we have audited
The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise:

» the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018;

« the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended;

« the consolidated statament of other comprehensive income for the year then ended;
+ the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

« the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

= the notas to the consolidated financial staterents, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (1SAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion,

independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the United Arab Emirates. We
have fulfilied our other ethical responsibllities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA
Code.

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, which states that the Bank’s equity
has reduced to AED 0.7 billion at 31 December 2018, as a resuit of the substantial increase in its
impairment provision. Consequently, the Group is in the process of recapitalizing itself through a strategic
controfling investment commitment of AED 1.9 bilfion by the Government of Sharjah, of which AED 1.1
billion has been deposited with the Bank as at 31 December 2018 pending sharehoiders’ and regulatory
approvals for conversion into share capital, The conversion to equity has been completed subsequent to
31 December 2018. The Central Bank of the UAE has aiso announced that it will support the Bank with
all the available liquidity facilities, which remain at Bank’s disposal if and when needed. Our opinion is nat
modified in respect of this matier,

'ﬁrfcewaterhoiiéééoopers {Dubai Br&ﬁéﬁj,n}:fééﬁse no. 1024;%
Emaar Square, Building 4, Level 8, P O Box 11987, Dubai - United Arab Emirates
T: +971 (0)4 304 3100, F: +971 (0)4 346 9150, www.pwe.cont/me

Douglas O'Mahany, Rami Sarhan, Jacques Fakhoury and Mohamed EBoma are registered as praclising auditors with the UAE Ministry of Economy 3



Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Invest bank
P.S.C. (continued)

Our audit approacﬁ -
e S

Key Audit Matter » Measurement of expectad credit losses under IFRS 9

As part of designing our audit, we determined matsriality and assessed the risks of material
misstatement in the consolidated financial stataments. In particular, we considerad where management
made subjective judgements; for example, In respact of significant accounting estimates that involved
making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits,
we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, Including among other matters
consideration of whether there was avidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement dus
to fraud.

We tallorad the scope of our audlt In order to perfonm sufficlent work to enable us to provide an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

Kay audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in pur professional judgmart, wems of most significancs in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
contaxt of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on thesa matters.

Measurement of expacted credit losses urder

IFRS 9 Woe performed the followlng audit procedures on
IFRS 8 ‘Financial instruments’ became effactive the computation of the ECL included in the

from 1 January 2018 and replaced most of the Group’s consolidated financial staternents for the
guidance In |1AS 39 - 'Financial Instruments’, In year ended 31 December 2018:

particular, the incurrad loss impairment model

under IAS 39 has been repiaced with the » Wetested the completensss and accuracy of
Expected Credit Losses modal (“ECL"). The the data used in the calculation of ECL.
Group has previously adopted the first phasa of

the IFRS 9 with o 6 Hication and » Fora sample of exposures, we checked the

appropriateness of the Group’s application of

measurement of financial instruments. The Group the staging criteria.
adopted the final phase of IFRS 9 with raspect to
impalrment of financial assets with effect from 1 > We involved our intarnal specialists to assess
January 2018. The adoption of the ECL model the following areas:
under IFAS 9 has resulted in a net decrease in e Conceptual framework used for
equity by AED 300 miltion which has besn developing the Group’s impalrment palicy
recognized as an adjustment in equity at 1 in the context of its compliance with the
January 2018. On the initial application of IFRS g, requirements of IFRS 9.

e ECL modslling msthodology and
managsment has evaluated and disclosed the calculations used to compute the
infarmation required by IFRS 7 and IFRS 9. probability of defautt {PD), loss given

default {(LGD}, and exposure at default
(EAD) for the Group's ctasses of finangial
instruments.




Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Invest bank
P.S.C. (continued)

Key audlt matters (continued)

Maasurament of expacted credit losses under
IFRS 9 (continued)

Thea Group applles ECL on all its financial
Instruments measured at amortised cost, debt
Instrumants measursd at falr value through other
comprehensive income and financial guarantee
contracts inciuding financing commitments and
financial guarantee contracts.

The Group sxercises significant judgemsnts and
makes a number of assumptions in davsioping Its
ECL models, which includes probabllity of default
computation separately for retail and corporate
portfolios, determining loss given default and
axposure at default for both funded and unfunded
expasures, forward looking adjustments and
staging criteria.

For defaulted exposures, the Group exercises
judgements to estimate the expected future cash
flows related to Individual exposures, including the
value of collateral,

The Group's Impairment policy undsr [FRS 9 Is
presented in Nota 4,3.1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Measurament of ECL is considered as a key audit
matter as the Group applies significant
|udgements and makes a number of assumptions
in the staging critaria applied to the financial
instruments as well as In developing ECL models
for calculating its impairment provisions.

s Reasonablsness of the assumptions mades
in developing the modsliing framework
including assumptions used for astimating
forward looking scenarlos and significant
Increass In cradit risk.

in addition, for the Stage 3 corporate credit
portfolic, we indspendently assessad the
appropriatensss of provisioning assumptions
for a numbar of exposures selected on the
basis of risk and the significance of individual
axposuras. An indepandant view was formed
on ths levels of provisions recognised, bassd
on the detalled loan and counterparty
information available in the credit files.

Woe also assessed the consolidated financial
staternent disclosures to ensure compliance
with IFRS 7 and IFRS 9,




Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Invest bank
P.5.C. (continued)

éther e
The directors are responsible for the other information, The other information comprises Directors’ report
{but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which we
obtained prior to the date of this audifor's report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
and will not express any form of assurance conclusion theraon,

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

It, based on the work we have performed, on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of
this auditor’s report, we conciude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting Standards and their preparation in
compliance with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2} of 2015, and for such intemal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of {consolidated) financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 1o fraud or error,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, directors are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concemn, disciosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.



Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Invest bank
P.S5.C. (continued)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's
report that includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 15As will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considerad material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain

professional scapticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial staternents,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resutting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, fargery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internat control,

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circurnstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control,

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by directors.

= Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors use of the going concem basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 1o events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. f we
conciude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequaie,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

« Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with govemance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with ralevant
sthical requirements regarding independence, and 1o communicats with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our indspendance, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with govemnance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters, We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation prectudes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter shouid not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequerices of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public intarest benefits of such commurication.

7



Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Invest bank
P.S.C. {continued}

As required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report that:
i) we have obtained al the information we congidered necessary for the purposes of our audit;

i) the consolidated tinancial statements have baen prepared and comply, in all material respects,
with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2} of 2015;

iif) the Group has maintained proper books of account;

v} the financial information included in the report of the Directors’ report is consistent with the books
of account of the Group;

v) as disclosed in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements the Group has purchased shares
during the year ended 31 December 2018;

vi) note 23 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions,
and the terms under which they were conducted;

vii} based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come fo our attention
‘which causes us to believe that the Group has cortravened during the year ended 31 December
2018 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. {2) of 2015 or in respect of the
Bank, its Articles of Association which wouid materially affect its activities or its financial position
as at 31 December 2018; and

viii} note 28 to the financial statements discloses the social contributions made during the year ended
31 December 2018,

Further, as required by Article (114) of the Decretal Federal Law No. {14} of 2018, we report that we have
obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
13 May 2019

Dse (O Mkony

Bouglas O’ Mahony
Registered Auditor Number 834
Place; Dubai, United Arab Emirates



Invest bank P.S.C,
Congolidated statement of financial position

as at 31 Decensher 2018

Note 2618 2017

AED "G00 AED00

Ausety
Cash and deposits with central banks 5 1,968,36%  2.261,183
Pue from banks 7 733,460 398,604
Investment securities 8 155,947 544,939
Loans and advances to customers 9 10,075,374 12,465,634
Oiher nssets 10 1,092,918 1,278,865
Total assets 14,626,068 16,949,215
Linbititics _
Due (o banks 12 15% 2,827
Deposits from customers 13 12,635,484 13,594,128
Qther liabilities ' 14 643,200 812,363
Total Habilities 13,278,883 14,409,318
Equity
Share capital 15 1,588,125 1,588,125
Legal reserve 15 450,638 450,688
Special reserve 15 450,538 450,688
Fair value reserve (117,015) (97.21%)
{Accumulated losses) / Retained earnings 1,625,301) 147,610
Total equity 741,185 2,539,907

Totsl liabilities and equity 14,026,068 16,949,225

The notes on pages 14 1o 65 are an integral past of these consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Birectors on
and signed on its behalf by:

LT AP2 238

Chief Executive Officer



Invest hank I"S.C,
Consolidated statement of profit or loss
Jor the year exded 31 Decenther 2018

Operating income

Interest income
Interest expense

Net interest income

Net fees and comszission income
Net income from foreign currencies
Revaluation gain/ (oss) snd other income

Total operating income

Operating expenses

Genesal and administrative expenses
Total operating expenses

Profit before impairment lnss

Net impairment loss

Loss for the year

Laoss per share (UAE Dirhams)

The notes on pages 14 to 63 are an integral part of these consclidated financial staternents.

19

Note

16
i

17

18

19

20

a1

201% 2017
ALD "0 ALD 900
740,015 847287
(345,738) {312,993
94,277 534,204
198,754 208,27
14,63 19,919
(91,132) 32,532
504,530 TH5,015
(285790 Q00,271
(285,793) Q09,2713
222,737 594,744
(1,694,582} {872,48%)
1,472,145) 277,74%)
092N (©.175)



Invest bank I*.S.C.
Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
Jor the year ended 31 December 2018

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive loss:

ftems that will not be reclassified to profit or Ipss:
Change in fair value of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVTOCD

Total items thut will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Total other comprehensive foss

‘Fatai eomprehensive loss for the year

The notes on pages 14 to 65 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statemens.

1

2618 2017

AETD 68 ALDY THN)
(AT245)  (277.745)
(20,378 (12,743
(20,378) (12,743)
26,378) (12,743)
(1A92,523)  (200,488)




lesvest bank P.S.C,
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2018

Halance at 1 Januwary 2017

Fotal comprehensive income
Profit for the year

ker comprehensive jacome
Changes in fuir value of Agancial assets measured

at fair value through other comprehensive income

Toral other comprehensive losy

Folal comprehensive income for the yoar

rectors' fees {refer fo note 23)
Transaction with ewners of the Bank
Cash dividend paid {refer to note 15)

fialance at 31 December 2017

Balance at 1 Jannary 2018
Changes on initial application of IFRS 9

Restated balance o T January 2018

Total comprehensive loss
Larss for the year

Cither comprehensive loss
Changes in fair value of linancial assets measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income

Realised Joss on sale of financial sssets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCT

Tutal ther comprehensive kss
Total comprehensive Joss for the year

Batance at 31 December 2018

(Accumul

ated Iosses)

Share Legal Special  Fairvalwe [ retained
capital FESETYE rESErve reserye earnings Total
AED 000 AL ‘000 AEDWBG  AED '8 AED ‘DM AED ‘(0
1,588,125 450,688 451,688 (84,470 556484 2,961,515
. - - - (277,749) (277,745}
- - . (12,743 - (12,743}
. - - (12,743} . (12.743)
- - . {12,743y (277,743 {250,488)
- - - - (2,800 (28003
- - . - (128,320 (128,323
1,588,125 450,688 450,688 (97,213} 147,619 2,530,907
1,588,125 450,685 450,688 47,213) 147419 2,539,907
- - - - (300,199 {306,199;
1,588,125 450,688 450,688 97213y (1525800 2,234,708
- - - - (1472,345) {1 472,145)
. - - {20,378} - {20,378}

. - - 376 {576} -
. . - {19,502} (576) -

- - - (19802 (1,472,728)  {1.492,52%)
1,588,125 450,688 450,688 (17015 (1,625,200) 747,185

The notes on pages 14 to 65 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,
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Invest bank P.S.C.
Consolidated statement of cash flows

Jor the year ended 31 December 2018
Note 2018 2017

AER 00 AED T
Cash flows from operating activities

Loss for the year 1,472,145y (277.745)
Depreciation 25409 1,781
Amorisstion of premivm on bonds - 495
Net loss / {gain) on investment securities 475 {1.27%)
Fair value loss on repossessed properties 18 119,985 4,000
Net impairment Joss 20 1694882 872,489

358,605 Al4,742

Changes in time deposits with Central bank maturing after three months . 405,000
Changes in time deposits with banks maturing afier three months . 100,000
Change in stalutory reserve reguirement 50,658 (57,120
Change in loans and advances 10 customers M5678  (1,384,508)
Change in other assets 61,170 (173,303
Change in deposits from castomers {958,644) 1417443
Change in other liabilities (169,163) 154,258
Directors’ fees 23 » {28000
Net cash (used in}/ generated from operating activities (261,695 1,123,718

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property and eguipment {10,935} (14,754)
Purchase of invesiment securities (28.594) (4,578)
Proceeds from safefredemption of investment securities 396,718 31,846
Nert cash generated from investing activities 357,189 12,516

Cash flows from financing sctivity

Cash dividend paid . (123,320
Net cash used in financing acrivity - {128,320
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 95494 1007511
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2,170,225 1,162,314
Cash and cash eguivalents at 31 December 22 2,265,119 2,170,225

The notes on pages 14 to 653 are an infegral part of these consolidated financial statements,

13



Invest bank P.S.C.
Nodes to the consolidated financial statements

i

Legal status and activities

Invest bank P.S.C. ("Invest bank” or “the Bank”) is a public shareholding company with limited liability whicl was
incorporated in 1975 by an Emiri Decree issued by His Highness Dr. Sheikh Sultan Bin Mobammed Al Qassimi, Ruler of
Sharjah. The registered address of the Bank is at Al Zahra Strget, P.O.Box 1885, Sharjah, United Arab Emirates ("UAE").

Invest bank is licensed by the Central Bank of the UAE (the "CB UAE"} to carry out banking activities and is principally
engaged in the business of corporate and retail banking through its network of branches jocated in the Emirate of Sharjah,
Dubai, Abu Dhabl, Ras Al Khaimah and Fujairah. Invest Bask also carries out banking activities through it's branch (“the
branch”} in Beirut, Lebanon Heensed by Bangue Du Liban (the "CB Lebanon™), The Bank's shares are listed on the Abu
Dhabi Securities Exchange ("ADX"),

The Bank has a fully owned subsidiary, ALFA Financial Services FZE with fimited liability status in the Sharjah Airport
International Free Zone to provide support services to the Bank.

The eonsotidated financial statements as ot and for the year ended 31 December 2018 comprise the Bank and its subsidiary
{together referred 10 as “the Group”).

Recapitalization

Background

Following 4 significant deterioration in the quality of the loans and advances portfolio of the Bank, its impairment provision
has increased by AED 2.2 billion, 10 AED 3.7 billion at 31 December 2018 and, conseguently, the Bank's equity has
reduced to AED 0.7 billon at that date. These factors have resulted in the Bank's liquidity being adversely affected as well
as the breach in its regulatory Capital Adeguacy Ratic ("CAR"), which is at 6.2% at 31 December 2018, compared 1o the
reguiatory minimum of 12.4%. The UARB Central Bank, has also reguested for further vegulatory impairment provisions up
to a maximum of AEL 0.9 billion which is currently under review by the Bank.

Subsequent to the year end, the Government of Sharjah acquired a comtrolling interest in the Bank through a strategic
investment, details of which are set out below. In addition, the UAE Central Bank has made a public press annousicement on
16 December 2018, that it will support the Bank with alt the avaifable liquidity facilities, which remain at Bank’s disposal if
and whesn needed.

Recapirtalisation plan

On 13 December 2018, the Government of Sharah entered into an lnvestment Agreement with the Bank, whereby it agreed,
to acquire & 50,1% conirolling interest in the Bank through a “Strategic Investment”, subject to shareholders’ and regulatory
approvals. The proposed invesiment commitment of AEE 1.9 billion would be undertaken in two tranches, as follows: AED
1.1 bitlion through the issue of 1,592,857,143 shares of AED 1 each, issued to the Government of Sharjah at 2 discounted
price of AED 0.7 per share and a further rights issue of AED 0.8 billion, also to be issued at a similar discounted price of
AED 0.7 per share and {0 be fully underwritten by the Government of Sharjah. The Investment Agreement expired on 31
Janvary 2019, and was replaced with the Implementation Agreement dated 28 March 2019 with similar terms and
conditions to those of the Investinent Agreement.

The first tranche of the AED 1.1 billion capital was placed 2s a deposit with the Bank by the Goverament of Sharjah on 27
December 2018, pending shareholders' and regulatory approvals for conversion into share capital. The Bank, at its General
Meeting held on 10 April 2019 approved tie Government of Sharjah's sirategic controlling investment i the Bank
subsequent to the receipt of the regulatory approvais. Accordingly, the AED 1.1 billon deposit has now bees converted intwo
fully paid up share capital of the Bank and the authorized share capital of the Bank was increased to AED 6.3 billion, Refer
to note 27(f} for the recompuiation of CAR at 13.84%, had this conversion taken place prior to 31 December 2018.

14



Invest bank P.5.C,
Notes te the consolidated financial statements

3

a)

b)

c)

d)

i)

{if)

(it}

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

This consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and the applicabie provisions of UAE
Federal Law No. 2 of 2015, The Bank, in sccordance with Article 302 of Federal Law No. 2 of 2013, showld convene a
General Assembly for the continnation of the Bank, within thirty days of the issue of these financial statements,

Basis of measurment
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the measurement of
certain investment securities at fair valne,

Functional and presentation currency
‘This consolidated financial information has been presented in United Arab Emirates Dighams (AED) rounded to the neasest
thousand, which is the Groop's funictional and presentation currency,

Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reporied amounts of assets, Habilities,
income and expenses, Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions ase reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the peried in which the estimate is revised and in any future period affected.

Significant aveas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amounés recognised in the consolidated financial information are described as foliows:

Classification of financial assets

In accordance with IFRS 9, the Group classifies its financial assets based on the assessments of the business models in
which the assets are held at a portfolio fevel and whether cash flows generated by assets constitute solely paymenis of
principa and interest (“SPPI”). This requires significant judgement in evaluating how the Group manages its business
modei and on whether or not a contractual clause in all debt instruments of a certain type breaches SPPE and results in a
material portfolio being recorded at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit Joss (“ECL”) allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost and fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI™) is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant
assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behavior (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the
resulting losses),

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

Determining the criteria for significant increase in credit risk (“SICR™);

Determining the criteria and definition of defauls;

Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECE;

Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of product/market and the
associated ECL; and

Estabiishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL,

Fair value of derivatives and unguoted securities

The fair values of financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined by using valvation technigues.
Where valuation technigues (such as models) are used to determine fair values, these are tested before they are used and
models are calibrated (o ensure that outputs reflect actval data and comparative market prices, To the extent practical,
moedels use only observable data, however area such as credit risk {(both own and counterparty), volatilities and correlations
require management 1o make estimates. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect reported fair values of
financial instruments.
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3
d)
(iv}

4.1

42

4.3

Basis of preparation (continued)

Use of estimates and judgments {continued)
Kepossessed properties

The fair value of repossessed properties were determined by external, independent property valuers, having appropriate
recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the Jocation and category of the propenty being valued. Fhe
independent valuers provide the fair value of the Group's repossessed properties portfolio annually,

Summary of significant nccounting policies

Standards, amendments and interpretations that are effective for the Group’s accounting period beginning on 1
January 2018

IFRS 13, Revenue from coniracts with custemers, effective for ansual periods beginning os or afier | Jangary 2018, has no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

There are no other IFRSs or {FRS IC interpretations that were effective for the first time for the financial year beginning on
I January 2018 that have had a material impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements,

Standards, amendments and interpretations that are effective for the Group’s aceounting perind beginning afier 1
January 2018

Effective for annual periods

IFRS No. Title begioning on or after

IFRS 16 Leases t Japuary 2019

Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepaymen} features with negative I January 2019
compensation

The Group has plans in place for adhering to the above new standard issued but not yet effective for the Group’s financial
year beginaing on | Fanuary 2018 and is currently assessing its impact,

There are no other applicable new standards and amendments to published standards or IFRS IC interpretations that have
been issued but are not effective for the first time for the Group's financial year beginning on [ January 2018 that would be
expected to bave a material impact on the consolidated financial information of the Bank,

Changes in acconnting policies

The Group has consistently applied the following accounting policies to ali perfods presented in these consolidated financial
staterments, except for the changes in accounting policies mentioned below.,

The Group has adopted IFRS 9 as issued by the IASB in July 2014 with g date of transition of | January 2018, which
resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts previously recognised in the consolidated
financial information.

As permitied by the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, the Group elecled not to restate comparative figures. Any adjustments
te the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities at the date of transition have been recognised in the opening
retained earnings and other reserves of the current period.

Consequently, for notes disclosures, the consequential amendments to IFRS 7 disclosures have also only been applied to the
current period. The comparative petiod rotes disclosures reflect those disclosures made in the prior period.

The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulied in changes is accounting policies for impairment of financial assets. IFRS ¢ also
significantly amends other standards dealing with financial instruments such as IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instraments; Disclosures’,

Set out betow are disclosures relating to the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 on the Group.

IAS 39 carrying amount Remea-  IFRS 9 carrying amoont

31 December 2017 surements I January 2818

Financial Assets AED '8 AED 080 AED 004
Cash and balances with central banks 2,261,183 - 2,261,183
Due from banks 398,604 (883 398,516
Loans and advances 1o customers 12,465,634 (296,711 12,165,934
Isvestmient securities ~ FVTPL 16,162 - 14,162
Investment securities « FVQOCE 135,757 - 135,757
investment securities « amortised cost 394,020 (411 398,609

15,670,360 {300,199 15,370,168
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4
4.3
431
{a)
(i)

(i)

{ii1)

Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

Changes in acconnting policies (continued)

Financial assets and {inhilithes
Measurement methods

Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost is the amount a1 which the financial asset or financial Hiability is measured af initial recognition; minus
the principal repayments; plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest rate method of any
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adiusted for any loss allowance.

The cffective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a finuncial asset i.e. its amortised cost before
any impairment allowance or 1o the amortised cost of a financial Hability. The calculation does not consider expected credit
losses and includes transaction cosis, premiums or discounts and fees paid or received that are integral to the effective
interest rate, such as origination fees,

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective financial asset or financial
liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised
in the statement of income,

Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate 1o the gross carrying amount of financial assets, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, for which interest income is calculated by effective
interest rate to their amortised cost (Le. net of the expected credit oss provision).

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits {0 purchase or seil the asset.

At initiat recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or financiat liability at its fair value pius or minus, in the case of
a financial asset or financial Hability not at fair valve through profit or loss, transactions costs that are incrernental and
directly atiributable w0 the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fee and commissions.
Transactions costs of financial assets and financial ligbilities carried at fair value through profit or foss are expensed in the
statement of income, Immediately after initial recognition, an ECL is recognised for financial assets measored at amortised
cost and at FVOCI, which results in accounting loss being recognised in the statement of income when an asset is newly
originated.

When the fair value of financial assets and liabifities differs from the transaction price on initial recognition, the entity
recognises the difference as follows:

When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or lability (i.e. a level 1 input}
or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the difference is recognised as a gain or loss,

In al} other cases, the difference is deferred and the time of recognition of deferred day one profit or Joss is determined
individually. It is either amortised over life of the instrument, deferred until the instrument’s fair value can be determined
using market observable inputs, or realised through settlement.
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Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
Changes in accounting pelicies (continued)
Financial assets and labilitics (continned)

Financiol assets

Classification and subsequent measurement

The Group has early adopted the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 and classifies its financial assets in
the following measurement categories:

Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL);
Fair vajue through other comprehensive income (FVOQCT); and
Amottised cost.

tume

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial Hability from the issuer’s perspective, sach as
loans and advances and investments in debt securities,

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instraments depend on;

the Group's business model for managing the assets; and
the cash flow characieristics of the assed,

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three measurement categories:

Amortised cost; Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
paymenis of principal and interest (‘SPPT’), and that are not designated at FVTPL, are measured at amortised cost. The
carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised and measured. Inierest income
from these financial assets is included in *Interest income’ using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for coliection of contractual cash
flows and for seiling the assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are
not designated at FVTPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCT). Movements in carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains and Josses, interest revenue and foreign
exchange gains and losses on the nstruments’ amortised cost which are recognised in the statement of income. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to the
statement of income and recognised in ‘Other income’, Interest income from these financial assets is included in “Interest
income’ using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through profit or toss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCT are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss
and is not pant of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and presented in the statement of income within
‘Other income’ in the period in which it arise. Interest income from these financial assets is included in ‘Interest income’
using the effective inferest rate method.

Business model: the business mode! reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate cash Flows. That is,
whether the Group's objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the
contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.z. financial assets
are held for irading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of ‘other” business model and measured at
FVTPL. Factors considered by the Group in determining the business model for a group of assets inciude past experience on
how the cash flows for these assets wese collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported to key
management personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are compensated.
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4

4.3
4.3

(b}
(i)

(i)

Svmimary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Changes in aceounting policies (continued)

Financial ngsets and liabilities (continued)

Financiol assets {continued)

Classification and subseguent measurement (continned)

SPPE; Where the business model is to hold assets io collect contractual cash flows or 10 collect contractual cash Tlows and
sell, the Giroup assesses whether financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely pavments of principal and interest (the
*SPPE 1est’). In making this assessment, the Group considers whether contractual cash Hows are consistent with a basie
lending arrangement ie. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending
risks and ag inferest rate that is consistent with basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure
to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss,

The Group reclassifies investment in debt instruments when and only when its business model for managing those assets
changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following the change. Such changes are
expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during the period.

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of eguity from the issuer’s perspective; that s, instruments that
do sot coniain a contraciual obligation fo pay and that evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s net assets. Examples of
equity instruments include basic ordinary shares,

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, except where the Group’s
management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income. The Group's policy is 1o designate equity investments as FVOCT when those investments are held
for purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this election is used, fair value gains and losses are recognised
in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to the statement of income, including on disposal. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses} are not reported separately from other changes in fair value, Dividends, when representing a
return on such investments, continue to be recognised in the statement of income as other income when the Group's right o
receive payments is established.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-locking basis the ECL associated with its debt instrument assets carried at amortised cost
and FVOCT and with the exposure arising from loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, The Group recognises
a loss aliowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of BCL reffects:

A unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;

The time value of money; and

Reasonable and supporiable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporsing date about past eveats,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditioss.

Madification of loans

The Group sometimes rencgotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of Joans to customers, When this
happens, the Group assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the original terms. The Group does
this by considering, among othess, the following factors:

if the borrawer is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash flows 10 amounts the
borrower is expected to be able to pay.

Whether any substantisl new ferms introduced, such as a profit sharefequity-based return that substantially affects the risk
profile of the loan.

Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.

Significant change in the interest rate,

Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.

Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk associated with the loan.
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43
43.1
{b)
(it

(iv)

fc)
(i)

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Changes in accounting policies (continued)

Financial sssets and Babilities (continued)

Financigl assets (vontinned)

Modification of loans (continued)

if the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a ‘new’ assel at
fair valse and recalculates a new effective inferest rate for the asset. The date of renegotiafion is consequently considered fo
be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether a
significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Group also assesses whether the new financial asset
recognised s deemed (o be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was
driven by the debtor being unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in the carrying amount are also
recognised in the statement of income as & gain or loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially differeat, the renegotiation or modification does not result in the derecogntion, and the
Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and recognises a
modification gain or foss in the statement of income,

The new gross careying amowunt is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate,

Derecognition other than on a modification

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets
have expired, or when they have been transferred and cither (i) the Grouyp transfers substantialty alt the risks and rewards of
ownerships, or (ii) the Group neither transfers nor retains ssbstantiatly all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Group
has rot retained controi.

The Group enters into fransactions where it retains the contraciual rights to receive cash flows from assets but assumes a
coniractual obligation to pay those cash flows 10 other entities and transfers substantiafly all of the risks and rewards. These
transactions are accounted for as ‘pass through’ transfers that resuit in derecognition if the Group:

Has no obligation to make payments unless if collects equivalent amounts from the assets;
Is prohibited from seliing or pledging the assets; and
Has an obligation to remif any cash it collects from the assets without material delay.

Financial labilities
Classification and subseguent measurement

In both the current and prior period, financial Habilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, except
for:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: this classification is applied to derivatives, financial Habilities held
for trading (eg. Short positions in the trading booking} and other financial liabilities designated as such at initia# recognition,
Gains or losses on financial Habilities designated at FVTPL presented partially in other comprehensive income (the amount
of change in the fair value of the financial Hability that is atributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability, which is
determined as the amount that is not aitribatable to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk) and partialty
profit or loss (the remaining amount of change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such a presentation would
create, or enfarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains and losses attributable to changes in the credit risk of
the Hability are also presented in the statement of incone;

Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for derecognition whereby for
financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for the transfer. In subseguent periods, the Group recognises
any expense incurred on the financial liability; and

Financial gearantee contracts and loan commitments.
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4.3

Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

Changes In acenunting policies (continued}

441 Financinl assets and Babilities (continued)

{c})
{ii)

(d)

fe}

Financial Kabilities {continued)
Derecognition

Financial Habilities are derecognised when fhey are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, canceiled ot expires),

The exchange between the Group and its original lenders of debl instruments with substantialiy different terms, as well as
substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recogaition of a new financial Hability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted
present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid nei of any fees received and discounted using
the original effective interest rate, is at jeast 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of
the originai financial liability. 15 addition, other gualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrumest is denominated
in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached fo the instrement and change in the covenants are
also taken into consideraton. If an exchange of debt instroments or modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment, any cosis or fees incurred ase recognised as part of the gain or loss on extinguishment, If the exchange or
modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the lability
and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified labHity.

Financial guaraniee contracts and loan commitments

Financial gnarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments o reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because & specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institotions and others on behalf of customers to secure
loans, overdrafts and other banking facilities,

Financial guarantee contracts are inittally measured at fair value and subsequently measured at the higher of;

The amount of the loss allowance; and
The premium received on initial recognition less income recognised in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15,

Loan comntifiments

Loan comsmitments provided by the Group are measured as the amount of the loss aliowance. The Group has not provided
any commitiment to provide loans at a below-market interest rate, or that can be settled et in cash or by delivering or issuing
another financial instrument.

For tvan commitments, the loss allowance is recognised as a provision, However, for contracts that include both a loan and
an undrawn commitment amnd the Group cannot separately identify the expected credit losses on the undrawn commitment
component from those on the loan component, the expected credit losses on the underdrawn commiiment ar¢ recognised
together with the loss alfowance for the loan. To the extent that the combined expected credit losses exceed the gross
carrying amount of the loan, the expected credit losses are recognised as a provision,
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(bj

(c)

{d}

fe)

Summary of significant aceounting policies (continued)
Aceounting policies
Basis of consolidation

Subsidiury

A subsidiary is an investee controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee if it is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returas from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. The financial statements of a subsidiary are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on
which control commences ungi} the date when control ceases.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intea-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses {except for foreign currency transaction
gains or losses) arising from intragroup trapsactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unreslised gains, but to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Fees and commission income and expense

Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or liability are
included in the measurement of the effective interest rate.

Other fees and commission income are generally recognised on an acerual basis when the related service obligations are
performed by the Group, Whesn a loan commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down of 2 loan, commitment fees
are recognised on a straight line basis over the commitment period. Other fees and commission expenses are expensed as the
related services are received.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when tie Group's right to receive such income
is established, Usually this is the ex-dividend date for equity securities.

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Group has a Jegally enforceable right 10 set off the recognised amounts and it intends either to
settle them on a net basis or 1o realise the asses and settle the liability simultanecusly.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRSs, or for gains and Josses arising from a
group of similar transactions such as in the Group's trading activity.

Fair value measurement principles

Fair value is the price that would be received w sell an asset or paid to transfer a lability in an orderfy transaction between
market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the
Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liabitity reflects its non-performance risk,

When available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that
instrument. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability fake place with sufficient frequency and
volome to provide pricing iaformation cn an ongoing basis,

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Group uses valvation techniques that maximize the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valvation technique incorporates all of the
factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction.
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Summary of significant accounting poelicies (continued)

44 Accounting policies (continsed)

(e}

{g)
®

Fair value measurement principles (continved)

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price - i.e. the
fair vaive of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs
fram the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quated price in an active market for an identical asset
or fiability nor based on a valuation technigue thal uses only data from observable markets, then the financial instrument is
initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the
transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on an
appropriate basis over the Jife of the instrument but no later than whes the valuation is wholly supported by observable
tnarket data or the transaction is closed out.

If an asset or & liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group measures assets and long
positions at a bid price and liab#lities and short positions at an ask price.

Portfolios of financial assets and financial fiabilities that are exposed to market risk and credit risk that are managed by the
Group on the basis of the net exposure 10 either market or credit risk are measuzred on the basis of a price that would be
received 0 sell a et long position (or paid 1o transfer a net short position) for a particular risk exposure. Those portfolio-
fevel adjusuments are aflocated to the individual assets and liabilities on the basis of the relative risk adjustment of each of
the individual instruments iz the portiolio.

The fair value of & demand deposit is not less than the amosst payable on demand, discounted from e First date on which
the amount coutd be required to be paid.

The Group recognises transfers between Jevels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during which
the change has occurred.

Derivative financial instruments - Other non trading derivatives

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments primarily to meet its customer requirements. Derivatives held for
internal risk management purposes include all derivative assets and liabilities that are not classified as trading assets or
liabitities. Derivatives held for risk management purposes are measured at fair value through profit or loss in the
consotidated statemnent of financial position.

Foreign currency

Foreign eurrency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are transiated to UAE Dirhams at the foreign exchange rates af the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to UAE Dirhams at the
spot foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary Htems is the difference between
the amortised cost in UAE Dirhams at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the
year, and the amortised cost in the foreign currency translated at the spot exchange rate at the end of the year.

Non monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are transiated to UAE Dirhams at
the spot exchange rate at the date on which the fair value is determined, Non monetary items that are measured based on

historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction,

Foreign currency differences arising on transtation are generally recognised in consolidated staternent of profit or foss,
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(g

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Accounting polictes (continued)

Fareign currency (confimsed)

@i}  Foreign operations

(h)

The assets and liabtlities of foreign operations are translated into UAE Dirhams at spot exchange rate at the reporting date,
The income and expenses of foreign operations are translated 1o UAE Dirhams at spot exchange rates at the dates of the
tragisactions,

Foreign currency differences are recognised in OCl, and accumulated in the foreign currency transtation reserve {translation
reserve), except (o the exient that the translation difference is aflocated to non-controlling interest ("NCIY).

When a foreign operation is disposed of such that control is lost, the cumulative amount in e transiation reserve related to
that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or Joss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. i the Group disposes of only
part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining control, then the relevant proportion of
the cumulative amount is reattributed to NC1,

If the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable 10 a foreign operation is neither plansed nor likely in the
foresesable future, then foreign currency differences arising on the item form past of the net investment in the foreign
operation and are recognised in OCI, and accumulated in the transiation reserve within equity,

Property and eyunipment
(i) Recognition and measurenent

ltems of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable 10 the acquisition of the asset.

(i} Subseguent cost

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits of the expenditure will flow
to the Gronp. On gotng repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred,

{iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property and equipment less their estimated residual values using
the straight line method over their useful lives, and is generally recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss, Land
is not depreciated.

The estimated usefu] lives of significant items of properiy and equipment are as follows:

Years
Buildings 2010 30
Office instaliations and improvements )
Office furniture and equipment 2t 8§
Motor vehicles 3

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date and adjusted if appropriate. No
depreciation is charged on freehold land and capital-work-in-progress. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
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4.4

{i)

(k)

)

m)

n)

Summary of significant acconnting policies (eontinued)
Accounting policies {continued)

Repossessed properties

The Group holds repossessed properties acquired through the enforcement of security over loans and advances.
Repossessed property is measured al cost on initial recogrition and subsequently at fair value with any change therein
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The Group determines fair value on the basis of valuations
provided by an independent valuer who holds a recognised and relevant professional qualification and has recent experience
in the location and category of the repossessed property being valzed. The Bank earns rental income from leasing the
properties uniil the properties have been disposed.

Staff terminal benelits

The Group pravides for staff terminal benefits based on an estimation of the amount of future benefit that employees have
eamed ia return for their service until their retirement. This calculation is performed based on a projected unit credit
method.

The Group contributes to the pension scheme for UAE nationals under the UAE pension and social security baw, This is a
defined contribution pension pfan and the Group's contributions are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
in the period to which they relate. In respect of this scheme, the Group has a legal and constructive abligation to pay the
fixed contributions as they fali due and no obligations exist to pay the future benefiis.

Provisions

A provision js recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outffow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows to reflect current market assessments of the time
vaiue of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Financizl guarantees and loan commitments

Financial guaraniees are contracts that require the Group fo make specified payments o reimburse the helder for a loss that
it incurs because a specified debtor fails 10 make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Loan
commitments are firm commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions.

Liabilities arising from financial guarantees or comsnitments to provide a Joan at & below-markel interest rate are initially
measured at fair value and the initial fair value is amortised over the life of the guarantee or the commitment. The liabitity is
subsequenily carried at the higher of this amortised amount and the present value of any expecied payiment 1o settle the
liability when a payment under the contract has become probabie, Financial guarantees and commitments to provide a loan
at a befow-market interest rate are included within other liabilities.

Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share ("EPS™) data for its ordinary shares. Basic BPS is calculated by
dividing the profit or loss attributable (o ordinary shareholders of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the year,

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, balances
with central banks, amounts due from other banks and deposits from other banks that are held for the purpose of meeling
short term cash commitments,

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position,
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4.4

(@)

{p}

(g)

(r)

Summary of significant nceounting policies (continged)

Accounting policies {continued)

Loans amd advances {o cusfomers

Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments, that are not quoted in an active
market and the Group does not intend to sell immediately in the near fisture,

Loans and advances are indtially measured at fair value plus incremental direet transaciion costs. Sybsequent to the initial
recognition loans and advances are measured ar amortised cost asing the effective interest method, except whea the Group
recognises the loans and advances at fair value through profit or foss.

When the Group is a lessor in a lease agreement that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental o the
ownership of the asset o the lessee, the arrangement is classified as finance lease and a receivable equal to the net
investment in lease Is recognised and presented within joans and advances.

When the Group purchases a financial asset and simultanecusly enters into an agreement fo resell the asset {or a
substantially similar asset} at a fixed price on a future date (reverse repo or stock borrowing), the arrangement is acconnted
for as a loan or advance, and the underlying asset is not recognised in the Group's financial statements.

Investment securities

Investment securities are initially measured at fair value plus in case of investment securities not at fair value through profit
or loss, incremental direct transaction cost. Subsequent fo initial recognition investment securities are accounted for
depending upon their classification as either amortised cost, fair value through profit or Joss or fair vatue through other
comprehensive income,

Invesiment securities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, if:

they are held within a business mode! with an objective to holt assets in order to collect contractual cash flow and the
contracteal terms of financial assets give rise, on specific dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest; and

they have rot been designated previously as measured at fair value through profit or joss,

The Group elects to present changes in fair value of certain investments i equity and debt instruments held for strategic
purpose in other comprehensive income. The election is fmevocable and is made os an instrument-by-instrument basis at
initial recognition.

Gains and Josses on such equity instruments are not reclassified to consolidated statement of profit or loss and no

impalrment is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Gains and losses on such debt instruments are reclassified 1o consolidated statement of profit or Joss and impairment is
recogaised in the consofidated statement of profit or loss.

bividend on ordinary shares

Dividends payable on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are approved by the Bank's
shareholders.

Share capital
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributabie to the issue of ordinary shares and share
options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
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£3]

]

1)

Summary of significant nccounting policies {continued)
Accounting policies (continned)

Operating leases

Leases of assets under which the lessor effectively retains all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a strai ght-line
basis over the term of the lease,

Impairment of non-financia assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than investment prapesty are reviewed at each reporting
date to determine whether there is any indication of kapairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated, The recoverable amount of a non-financial asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
cost to seil. The reduction in value is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent thar assets carrying amount does not exceed the carrving amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment foss had been recognized.

Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and
incur expenses, whose operating resalts are reviewed reguiarly by the management of the Group to make decisions abotst
resources altocated o the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available,
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5 Accounting classification of finsncial assets and financial abifities

The table below shows a reconciliation berween Jine items in the consolidated statement of financial position and categories
of financial instruments.

Others at Total
amariised carrying
At 31 December 2018 FVTPL EVTOCT cost amount
AED GG AED 000 AED 00 ALED D0
Financial assets

Cash and deposits with central banks . . 1,968,369 1,968,369
Due from banks - . 733,460 733,464
Investment securities H.063 133,285 14,629 155,947
Loans and advances to customers - . 0,075,374 10075374
Customers' indebtedness for acceptances - . 350,945 350,945
Other financial agsets 34 . 46,088 46,122
8007 133,255 13,188865 13,330,217

Kinancial linbilities
Due &3 banks . - 194 190
Deposits from customers - . 12,635,484 12,635,484
Liabilities under accepiances . . 350,945 350,945
Other financial liabilides . - 231,069 231069

- “ 13,217,697 13207%,697

At 31 December 2017

Financial assets
Cash and depuosits with central banks . - 2,261,183 2,261,183
Pue from banks . - 368,604 398,604
Investment securities 10,162 135,757 399,020 544,939
Loans and advances to customers - - 12465634 12,465,634
Customers’ indebtedness for acceptances - - 356,856 356,836
Other financial assets ) 23 - 75,066 15.0%9
10,185 135157 16,156,363 16,302,305
Financial liabilities
Pue to banks - . 2,427 2,827
Deposits from customers - - 13,594,128 13,594,128
Liabilities under acceptances . - 556,856 556,356
Other financial lisbilities - - 184,514 184,514

. - 14,338,325 14338323
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Cash and deposits with central banks

218 017
AED*a0( AEDT
Cash in hand 74,661 68.676
Deposits with central banks 1,457,63¢ 1,705,772
Reserve requirements with the CB UAE (refer nore 6.1) 387,720 449,044
Reserve reqguirements with the CB Lebanon (refer note 0.1} 48,355 37,686
1,968,369 2,263,183
Statutory reserve deposits are required to be maintained as per regulations of the CB UAKE and the CB Lebanon.
Due frem banks
2018 217
AED'060 AEG)
Money market placements 605,967 244,370
Balances with other banks F27,657 149,234
733,624 398,604
Less: Allowance for impairment (ECL) {164} -
731,460 398,604
The geographical concentration js as follows:
- Within the UAE 615,578 256,978
- Ousside the UAE 118,046 141,626
733,624 398.604
Less: Allowance for npairment (ECL) (1ad) -
733,460 198,604
Investment securities
Other GCC
The details of investments are as follows: Domestic  Countries Others Totat
AED ‘800 AED'HO0  AED Y068 AED ‘800
At 31 December 2018
Financial assets measured st fair value through profit
or foss (FYTPL):
Investsents in quoted eguity securities 1,632 - - 1,632
Investmenis in un-quoted funds - - 6431 6,431
Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FYTOCH)
Investments in quoted equity securities £31,780 1,008 - 132,788
Investments in un-quoted equity securities 467 - . 467
Financial assefs st amortised cost;
Investments in debt securities 14,646 . - 14,646
F48,528 L0688 6,431 155,964
Less: Aliowance for impairment (ECL) amn - - Gn
148,508 1,008 6,431 185,947
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8.1

a1

Investment secorities (continued)

At 31 Pecember 2017
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit
or loss (FVTPLY:

- Investments in quoted equity securities

- Investments i us-guoted funds
Financial assets meassred at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVTOCH)

- Investiments in quoted equity securities
Financial assels at amortised cost:

- Investinents in debt securities

Other GCC
Domestic Countries Hhers Total

AED 6 AED 000 AED "800 AED 008
34 - - 3,14
- “ 64358 6,458
135040 747 - 135,757
399,020 - - 399 420
537,764 717 6,458 544,939

The Group has purchased equity investments amounting 1o AED 29 milfion during the year ended 31 December 2048, (31

BDecember 2017: AED 4.6 mitlion).

Loans and advances to customers

Overdrafis

Biils discounted
Trust receipis
Term foans

Aliowances for impatrment (refer note 9.1 and 9.2}

Net ioans and advances o customers

The movement ¢uring the year in the impairment provision is as follows:

At 1 January
Initial application of IFRS 9

At | January (adjusted as per IFRS 9)

Charge for the year {refer note 20)

Recoveries during the year

Interest not recognised in the consolidated profit or loss statement
Amounts written off during the year

0

2818 2017
AEDHO0  ABD'XN
6364810 5,459,266
526,350 425,119
624,349 749,977
6302624 7,341,489
13,818,133 13975851
(3,742,759)  (1,510.217)
075374 12,465,634
2018 2017
AED'ODD  AEDOOO
1,518,217 LU61.619
299,700 -
1809517 1,064,619
1,716,424 927,342
19,172) (49.688)
237,676 31,086
(2LI86)  (460,142)
AT42,780 1510217
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10.1

1

12

Other nssets

Interest receivable

Repossessed properties (refer to note 16.1)
Property plant and equipment (refer 10 note 11)
Prepayments and other assets

Customers' indebtedness for acceptances

1B HH7
AED NG ALY
31,251 69,181
587,191 523,787
94,934 114,413
13,592 14,628
350,945 556,856
1,092318 1.278.865

Repossessed properties were acquired in settlement of loans and advances. Refer to note 26 for further information on the
Group's fair value hierarchy, the approach to determining the valuation of properties, including the valuation techaiques and

significant inputs.

Property and equipment

Cost

At 3 December 2618
Accomulated depreciation
At 31 December 2018

Net book value gt 31 December 2018

Net hook value st 31 December 2017

Due to banks

Demand deposits and fotal due to banks

31

Office Olfice
instaflation lersitore
Land and  and impro- andd Muotor

building ~vements  eguipment vehicles Totul
AED'DM AEDahY AERDIR  AED'0G0 AED'OIB
103,349 41,325 44,622 460 245,756
30.585 32616 82,156 460 145817
72,764 14,709 12466 . 93,919
75,251 16,641 22,52 - 4,413
2018 2047
AEDD00 ABED
194 2,827
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13 Beposits from customers

2018 ane
AELFBIN ALEDTH
Titne deposits 4056266 10,176,743
Savings accounts 131,394 132,727
Current and other accounts 3447824 1084658
12,635,484  13.594,128

Customer deposits by geographical area are as follows:
Within the UAE 12,504,147 13,500,149
Others 131,337 93,979
12635484 13594,128

13.1 Customer deposits include AED 1,115 million received from the Government of Sharjah fowards increase in share capital

{note 2)

14 Other lisbilities

15

2018 2087

AEDNKIB ALDG

Interest payable 122,569 132,282
Unearned comnmission income 40,473 54,382
S1aff benefits payabie 17,983 10,839
Accrued expenses 61,796 A.493
Manager's cheques 6,97% 15,732
Ligbilities under acceptances 351,943 556,836
Others 42,468 25,779
643,200 812,363

Share capital and reserves

Share capital
At 31 December 2018, the Group's authorised, issued and fully paid share capital was AED 1,58%.13 million comprising
1,588.13 million shares of AED | each (at 31 December 20§7: AED 1,588,013 miliion comprising 1,588.13 million shares of
ALD | each).

As disclosed in note 2, subsequent to the year end, the issued and fully paid up share capital of the Bank has increased o
AED 3.2 bitlion and its authorised share capital has increased to AED 6.3 billion,

Dividend
At the Annual General Meeting of the Bank keld on 29 March 2018, no dividend was approved by the shareholders (2017:
AED 128.3 miilion).

Reserves

Legal reserve

In accordance with the Article 236 of the U.A.E. Federal Law No. (2) of 20135, 10% of the annual profit is transferred to the
Legal reserve, The Bank may rescive to discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve equals 50% of the nominal
value of the paid up share capital. Transfers to the Legal reserve arc made oaly at year end. The Legal reserve is not
gvailable for distribution, The fegal reserve was AED 430.6 million at vear end {2017 AED 450.6 milion}.

Special reserve

In accordance with the Article 82 of Union Law No. 10 of 1980, 10% of the annua! profit is transferred to the Special
reserve. The Bank may resolve to discontinue such annual transfers when the reserve equals 50% of the Bank’s capital. The
special reserve was ABD 450.6 mittion at year end (2017: AED 450.6 million).
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16 Net interest income 2018 2017
AEEO00 AL

Interest income:

Deposits with banks KA K] 21,216
Debt securities 1,206 20,312
Loans and advances to customers 692,696 805,759

740,015 847,287

Interest expense:

Due to banks {1,193 {39%)
Time deposits (39,864} (307,605)
Call depusits (2,863) (2,293
Savings accounts and otiers (2,618) {2,697)

{345,738) (3312.99%)

394277 334,264

17 Net fees and commission income 2018 2017
AED'00B AEDUN
Fees and comntission income!

Le#ers of credit fee 35430 34,726
Letters of guarantee fee 96,545 97,966
Retail and corporate iending fees 32,642 46,965
Comsission on transfers 2,932 3,343
Others 23,583 15,632

191,132 HB6I2
Fees and commission expenses:

Service charges and other expense €378) (362
191,754 208,270
18 Other income pil1}] 2007

AEDOIH) AEDDX

Dividend on investment securities 8,165 5,134
Rental income 19,338 8,800
Realised (loss} / gain on investment securities at FVTPL (1,852) 417
Fair value adjustment for financial assets at fair valve through profit or loss 577 1,278
Fair value loss on repossessed properties {169,985) {9,000}
Other operating income 825 25,894

(91,132} 32.532
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Genernt and administrative expenses

28 a7
AEDH AEDTH0
Personnel and related costs (49027) (144,865}
Premises and related expenses {21,322 {18,339}
Profesisonat expenses (50,164} (3,931}
Depreciation and other expenses (65,280) {33,135}
(285,743) {260,271

Net impairment loss
2018 M7
AEDDH) AEIYOHHG
Gross impairment charge for the vear 1,716,424 927,342
Recoveries (refer note 20,1} (21,542) (54,853}
1,644,882 871,489

Inciudes AEE} 2.5 million (2017: AED 5.2 million) recovered from balances previously writien off,

Earnings per share

Basic eamings per share is based on the loss atributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bask and weighted average number

of ordinary shares.
208 il
AEDG0 AEDT
Loss attributable to ordinary share holders 412,145y (277.743)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding at 31 December 1,588,125 1,588,125
Barnings per share (UAE Dirhams) (6.927) W1
At reporiing date the Group does not have any instrument resulting in dilution of basic earnings per share,
Cash and cash equivalents
208 N7
AED'(H0 AEDTM
Cash and deposits with central banks (refer nore 6) 1,532,204 1,774,448
Due from banks maturing within three months (refer note 7) 733,624 398,604
Due to banks maturing within three months {199} (2300
2,268,719 2,170,225
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23 Related party transactions

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into various transactions with refated parties including Board of
directors, their related companies and Key management personnel having suthority and responsibiity for plasning, directing
and controlling the activites of the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director, execntive or atherwise, of the
Group. The related party transactions are execnted at the terms agreed between the parties. The volume of related panty
transactions, outstanding balances at the year end, and related income and expenses for the year are as follows:

2018 2017
Compantes Companies
associafed associated
dBoant of  with Board Bosrdof  with Board
tirectors  of divectors directors  of directors
AELB00 AEBUG0 ABEDUM} AEDTN
Loans
Loans outstanding at 31 December 36,075 131,089 38,357 564,218
nterest income earned during the vear 2,054 3,716 1,728 28,812
Cutstanding lfetters of credit and guaraniees at
31 Decembier 5,375 187,029 8,375 §4,175
Deposits
Breposits at 31 December 267,538 1,847 485 2730359 611,433
Interest expense charged during the year 8244 66,180 1,946 17,510

None of the loans granted to related parties are impaired or past due as at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: Nil).

The loans extended to directors during the year are repayable over 1 year and bear interest at rates ranging from 4 % o 10 %
per annum (2017: 4% to 10%). At 31 December 2018, outstanding loans and advances due from related parties are secured
by deposits sader lien amounting 10 AED 774.8 million (2017: AED 351.7 miilion).

Key management compensation 2018 2017
AED 008 AEDG0

Board of Directors* 1,500 4,300
Key management 11,048 10,2265
Termigation benefits B22 368
13,4260 14,888

*In accordance with UAK law, compensation to the Boerd of Directors in 2017 includes directors remuneration of AED 2.8 million
No remeration was paid 1o the Board of Direciors in 2018,
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24 Commitments and contingent labilities

At any time, the Group has ontstanding commitinents to extend credit. These commitmenis take the form of approved loan
facilities, Ouistanding loan commitment have comunitted periods that de not extend beyond the normal underwriting and

setifement period.

The Group provides financial guarantees and letier of credit to guarantee the performance of customers to third parties,
These agreements have fixed limits and generally extend up to a peried of one year.

The contractual amount of commitments and contingent labilities are set out in the following table by category.

Letters of credit

Letters of guarantee

Erevocabie commitments 1o extend credit
Foreign exchange and forward commitments

218 217
AEIY B0 AED U
316,958 T43IN82
6,160,794 Ta51L,007
201,368 521,638
758,356 23),283%
74364H) 5R46.8113

Liquidity requirements fo support calls under guaraniees and standby letters of credit are considerably fess than the amount
of the commitment because the Group does not generally expect third pasties to draw funds uader the agreemest. The total
outstanding contractual amount of commitments to exterd credit does not necessarily represent future cash requirements, as

many of these commitments will expire or terminate without being fusded,

Exposure by geography as on 31 December

United Arab Emiraies
Other Arab Countries

Exposure by currency as on 31 December

Foreign currency
AED

Total

Irrevacable commitments Foreign exchange snd
to extend credis farward commitments Contingent liabilities
2ns 2007 2018 017 1ot 2007
AED (W} ALDGH) AED 000 ALY (X} AEDDUD AED0G
2308 521,639 T58350 230,285 6,419,950 8042510
- - - - 51802 32,379
200,308 521.639 758,350 230,285 6 477,752 8,94 8RY
frrevocable commitments Foreign exchange and Other commitments and
to extend credit forward commitments contingent liabilities
2018 2007 2018 2017 2618 007
AED"HH AR OG0 AERY 080 AED 000 AED' ) AEDTX}
1,042 FEN] 758,350 23,285 383,967 575,152
199,266 520,904 (758,350) (230,285} 6,093,785 7.519.737
200,308 521,639 . - 6477,752 8494 880
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24 Commitments and contingent liabilities {continued)

Expuosure by industry segment as on 31 December

Agriculture, and allied activities
Mining ang quarrying
Massufacturing

Construction and real estate
Trade

Transport, storage and communication

Financial institutions
Other services
Government

Loans to individuals

Loans to high net worth individuals

Others

Total

Exposure by maturity as on 31 December

Less than 3 months
More than 3 months

Total

25  Segmental snalysis

Irrevocable commitments Foreign exchange and Other conupitments and
0 extend credi forward conmitoents eontingent Habilities

2018 2087 1 AT 2018 2047
AED00 ARG AED'BOG AETY O} AED08 AEDOG

- - - - 3,768 4,883

- . “ - 4,338 6,538

419 32,740 - - 617,210 917,394

135,698 248,994 - « 4,116,521 5,176,998

10,590 6,741 758,350 330,285 748,880 1023488

- 5307 - - 167,033 110,967

- 52,860 - - E93,985 123,503

29,506 67,150 - - 464,870 543,604
5,499 3429 - - 520 1072

11,500 36,203 - - 11,518 12,598
6,396 74238 - - 217,109 173,844
200,308 521,639 758,350 230,285 6477,752 3094889

84,695 259,405 758,350 230,285 1,764,171 190,652
114613 232,230 - - 4,708,581 904,237
200,308 351,639 738,350 2301285 6,477,752 %,094,889

Reporiable segments are identified on the basis of internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker, in order to allocate resottrces to the segment and o assess its performance

The Group operates in the United Arab Emirates and Lebanon, and its results arise largely from commercial banking,
freasury and invesiment activities, Information with respect to business segments is as foliows;

Net interest and other income
Net impairment nss

(Loss} / profit for the year
Segment capital expenditure
Segment depreciation

At 31 December
Segment toal assets

Segment total Habiities

Year ended 2018 Year ended 2017
Commercial  Treasury & Commercial  Treasury &

banking  investments Total hasking  investments Tonal
AEDO60 AED'HN AED"8H) AELOG AETYHHY AL

446,854 61,676 S08,530 733384 61,634 To5,045
{1,673,796) {21,086)  (1,694,882) {854,821} {11.668) {872,489}
(1,A495,291) 23,146 (1472,145) {334,045} 56,30 (277,745}

10,933 - 10,935 14,754 - 14,754

22,399 3016 25,409 HER 913 11,781
11,277,476 2,748,502 14026068 14075516 2373709 16,949,225
13,090,721 188,162 13,273,583 14079,565 329753 14409018
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Fair value of nssets and liabilities

Fair value hierarchy of assets/liabilities measured at Fair value

The fair vaiues of asseis and Habilities that are traded in active markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price
guotations. Far all other assets/liabilities, the Group determines fair valoes using other valuation techniques. For financial
instruments that trade infrequently and have little price Iransparency, fair value is Jess objeciive, and requires varying
degrees of judgment depending on Hguidity, conceniration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other
tisks affeciing the speciic instrument.

The Group measures fair values using the foliowiag fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance of the inputs used
in making the measurements.

Level 1 Quoted market price (vnadjusted) in an active market for an identical insttument.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable either directly (i.e. as prices) or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices), This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets
for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered fess than active; or
other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data,

Level 3: Inpuis that are unobservable, This category includes all instruments for which the valuation techanique includes
inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This
category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instrumenss for which significant
unobservable adjustrrents ar assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments,

Valuation technigues inciude net present value and discounted cash flow models. comparison with similar isstruments for
which market observable prices exist. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation technigues include risk-free and benchmark
interest rates, credit spreads and other premia used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign cusrency
exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected price volatifities and correlations.

The objective of valuation technigues is to arrive at & fair value measurement that reflects the price that wauld be received to
seli the asset or paid to transfer the Hability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date,

The following table analyses assets at fair value at the reporting date, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the
fait value measurement is categorised, The amournts are based on the values recognised in the statement of financial
position.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
At 31 December 2018 AED 00D ALY DOG ALY 000 AED G0
Financial assets
FVTPL - equity securities 1,632 - 6,431 8,063
FVTOCI - equity securities 132,788 - 467 133,255
Non financiat assets
Repussessed properties - . 587,191 587,191
134,420 B 594,080 T18,509
At 31 December 2017
Financial assets
FVTPL. - equity securities 3,704 . 6,458 10,162
FVTOC - equity securities 135,757 - - 135,757
Neon financial asseis
Repossessed properties - - 323787 523,787

135461 - 530,245 669,706
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)

Balance as at 1 January
Fair vaine changes:
« in profit or loss
-in OCH
TFransfer
Additions
Disposals

Balance as at 31 December

Fnir value bierarchy of assets/Habilities measured of fair value (continued)

31 Dec 238 31 Dec 24117
Investment  lavestmient  Investment  Investment
securifics  properties securities properties

AED B0 AL

6,458 523,787 113,436 400,437
258 (109,985) « (0%
- - JLEESA] -
- - (121,482} §21,482
3,674 173,389 4,504 §3,952
(3,959 - - {10714)
6,431 587,19 6,458 533,787

Although the Bank believes that it's estimates at fair value are appropriale, the use of different methodoiogies or
assumptions could lead to different measurements of fair value, For fair value measurement in level-3, changing the
assumptions by 1% (+/-), would not have any significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements,

Valuation of investment securities

The bank constantly monktors the progress of its investments by conducting its ows valuation assessment. Depending on the
nature of the underlying asset, quantitative methods are used such as vesidual valse, DCF/scenario analysis or comparable
market valuation. The unocbservable inputs are selected based on various indestty and macroeconomic faciors that
managemend considers as reasonabie, Qualitative methods which invoive taking isto consideration the market and economic

cutiook are also employed,

Valuation of repossessed properties

The fair value of repossessed properties were determined by external, independent property valuers, having appropriate
recognised professional gualifications and recent experience in the location and category of the property being valued. The
independent valuers provide the fair value of the Group's repossessed properties portfalio annually,

Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs

The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of repossessed properties, as well as the

significant unobservable inputs used.

The Group has taken the highest and best use fair values for the fair value measurement of its repossessed properties.

Significant
unchservable inputs

Valuation technigue
Cost method

Expected market rental
growth rate

Sales comparison method Free hold property
Free of covenants, third
party rights and
cbligations

Statutory and Jegat
validity

Prices of similar sites or

Interrelationship between key anobservable
inputs and fair value measurements

I there is a change in the estimate of expected
market rental growth rate.

The property is not free hold.

If the property becomes subject to any covenants,
rights and obligations,

If the property becomes subject (o any adverse
legal notices / judgments.

1f there is a reduction in prices of properties in the

properties in the vicinity. immediate vicinity,
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by Finonelal instruments not messured at fair value

The following table sets out the fair vatues of financial instruments not measured at fair value and analyses them by the Jevel
in the £air value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorised.

Toial

Tolat Fair carrying

At 31 December 2018 tevel Level 2 Level 3 valise smount

AEL 800 AED "0ag AED "6 AED 000 AED 008

Financial nssets

Cash and deposits with central banks . 1,968,364 . 1,968,369 1,968,369
Bue from banks - 733,460 . 733460 T3 A6
fnvestment securities 14,434 - - 14,434 L4670

L.oans and advances to customers . . 5,374 10075374 10,075,374
Customers' indebtedness for acceptances - - 350,945 350,945 350,943
Other financial assets - 46,122 . 46,122 46,122

14,434 2747951 10426319 13,188,704 13,188,899

Financial Babilities

Dae to banks - 199 - 199 199
Beposits from customers - 12,635,484 - 12,635,484 12,635,484
Liabilities under acceptances - - 350,945 350,945 350,945
Other financial Habilities - 231069 . 231,069 231,069
- 12,866,752 350,945 13,217,697 13217697
Total
Total Fair carrying
At 31 December 2017 Level 1 Levet 2 Level 3 vitlue amount

ALD ¥X) AED 'G04) AED 006G ALD OO0 AED 1K
Financial assets

{Cash and deposits with ceatral banks - 2,261,183 - 261,183 3,261,183
Due from basks - 398,604 . 398.604 398,604
Investment securities 412,553 - - 412,553 399,020
Loans and advasces o customers - . 12465634 124654834 12,465,634
Customers’ indebtedness for acceptances - . 356,856 556,856 556,856
Other financial assets - 75,5189 . 75,089 75,089

412,553 2734876 13022490 16,169,916 16,156,386

Financial liabifities

Edue 10 banks - 2,827 - 2872 2,872
Deposits from customers - 13,594,128 - 13,504,128 13,594,128
Liabilities under acceptances - - 556,856 356,856 556,856
Other financial labilities - 184,514 . 184,514 184,514

- 13,781,469 536,856 14338370 14,338,370
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Fair value of financial instrument (continued)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value (continued)

In respect of those financial assets and financial lisbilities measured at amortised cost, which are of short term nature (up to
I year), managetment believes that carrying amount is equivalent te if's fair valve.

In respect of investments in sukuks/bonds, management has used the guoled price when available to assess fair value or
used & Discounted Cash Flow (DCF} methodology based on market observabie inputs,

Long term loans and advances to customers are fair valued based on DCF which takes into account original underlying cash
borrower credit grading and expecied prepayments, These features are used to estimate expecied cash flows and discounted
at risk-adjusted rates, However, this technigue is subiect to inherent limitations, such as estimation of the appropriate risk-
adjusted discount rate, and different assumptions and inputs would yield different results,

Fair values of deposits from banks and customers is estimated using DCF, applying the rates that are offered for deposits of
similar maturities and terms. The fair value of deposits payabie on demand is considered to be the amount payable at the
teporting date,

Risk management
Introdaction and overview

The Group has exposure to several risk categories and i has frameworks 10 cover all material risks aeross the Bank, in
addition {o the following primary risks:

o Credit risk

+ Liquidity risk

* Market risk

* Uperationat risk
The other distinet risks included in the Internal Capital Adeguacy Assessment Process (JICAAP) of the Bank are
concentration, business / strategic, regulatory, compliance, reputation and legal risks. Furthermore, since cyber security risks
have come to the forefront, Bank has placed emphasis on information security risk and has invested heavily to deploy state
of the art architecture.

This note presenis information about the Group's exposure to each of the above primary risks, the Group's objectives, risk
management frameworks, policies and processes for measuring and managing risks, and the Group's capital management
pian.

Governance and Risk Management Framework (RMF)

'The Board of Directors (the "Board” or "BOID) has the sltimate responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the
Group's Risk Management Framework, For that purpose the board has formulated, in line with intermational best practices,
the following cominitiees at boasd level to help manage various risks the Bank faces:

Beard Audit & Compliance Committee;

Board Risk Committee;

Board Executive Credit Committee; and

Boeard Nomination and Remuneration Commitiee.

I

The Board Risk Commitiee has been entrusted with the mandate of risk management and the Executive Credit Committee
has heen entrusted with the approval of the credit and investraent decisions as per delegation from the Board of Direciors,

The various Board Committees are assisted by the following Senior Management Committees: Asset Liability Committee
(ALCO); Management Committee, Management Credit Committee; 1T Committee; and an Information Security Committee.
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a)

b)

Introduction and everview (continued)

Bank has implemented the Basel [I} Frameworks, IFRS 9 and is in the process forming apprapriate commitiees (o assign
distinet responsibilities to members of the senior management.

Reguilar audit of business units and Group credit processes are undertaken by internal audit. Furthermore, Controf and
Compliance functions have been enhanced,

Under the purview of the Risk Management Depariment, the Group is making steady progress in its initiatives to embrace
an Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework to enable the business and functional units to manage 11 risks in a pro-
active manser while integrating concepts of strategic planaing, operational risk management, infernal controls, and
compliances. These include methods and processes, encompassing alt risk dimensions to seize the opportunities related to
the achievement of the Group's objectives,

Credit Risk Management Department (CRMD) has foramlated Credit Risk policies aligned with Group's strategies, goals vis:
a-vis risk appetite, including collateral management policies, credit assessment, risk grading and reporting, risk rating in
compiiance with regulatory requiremenes,

Risk Appetite Statement (RAS) and Frameworks for translating policies defining “risk appetite” and “risk toferance” Jevels
to measurement techniques are in advanced stages to link to appropriate risk Hmits, controls and capitaf management
pianning (CMP) frameworks.

Review of risk management policies and systems is a regolar activity 1o reflect changes in market conditions, products and
services offered by the Group in order to present 2 comprehensive view of risk from a sirategic and operational perspective
and have a process to address risk proactively.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group's joans and advances to customers, contingent Habilities,
balances due from banks, Deposits and reserve with the Central Bank, other assets and debt securities.

It is aiso the risk of loss, or of adverse change in the financial situation, resulting from fluctuations in the credit standing of
issuers of securities, counterparties and any debtors to whom the Group is exposed - in the form of counterparty defaslt risk,
or {credit) spread risk, or market risk concentrations,

Management of credit risk

The Board of Directors has delegated the responsibilities of the management of credit risk o its Executive Credit Committee
(ECC) and Management Credit Commitiee (MCC). Changes to discretionary limits are subject to the Board's approval.
Similarly, facilities in excess of discretionary Hmits are approved by the ECC or the Board of Directors,

A separate and centralised credit risk management division ("CRMD") is respoasible for oversight of the Group's credit risk,
which comprises of various independent functions, inclixling but not limited to credit assessment and evaluation,
mositoring, control, administration and documentation.
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(i)

Risk management {continued)

Credit Risk (continued)
Management of eredit risk (continued)

The broad functions of CRMD include:

Formulating credit policies in consultation with business units, coveting credit assessment, coflateral requirements, risk
grading and reporting, documentary and legal procedures, and compliance with regulatory and statutory reguirements;

Reviewing and assessing credit risk in accordance with delegation & authority siructure, Hmits and discretionary powers
prior to facilities being commitéed 1o customers, Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to the same review process;

Limiting concentrations of credit exposure 1o counterparties and industries in Jine with RAS by establishing exposure caps
and monitoring sectoral exposures. Preferred sectors are identified and reviewed regalarly in Hne with market dynamics.
Accordingty marketing initiatives are directed either to expand 7 reduce or to balance risk / reward trade offs;

Reviewing compliance on an ongoing basis with approved exposure limits relating to counterparties, industries ang
countries. Regular reports are provided to the management, MCC, Execntive Credit Committee and the Board of Disectors
on the quality of portfolios and appropriate corrective action is initiated when necessary; and

Providing advice, guidance and specialised skills to business units to promote best practices throughout the Group in the
management of credit risk.

For financial institutions, the Group uses external ratings issued by Standard and Poor's, Moody's, Fitch, Capital
Intelligence or other recognised credit ruiing agencies in order to manage s credit risk exposure.

The Group has adepted & Standardised Approach for credit risk and market risk end a Basic Indicator Approach for
Operational Risk, Models for Internal Rating, categorizing the exposures according to the degree of risk of financial Joss
have been developed and are in use since 2012, The current risk grading framework consists of eight grades reflecting
varying degrees of risk of default and the availability of coliateral or other credit risk mitigants. In addition, the Group has
proactively developed frameworks for IRB (Internal Rating Based) approach in anticipation of Central Bank guidelines. In
preparation for the implemeniation of the IRB approaches and building a strong database, the Group introduced oaline
processing of credit applications and rating of all counterparties.

Credit risk measurement

Loans and advances {incloding loan commitments, LCs and LGs)

The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purposes is complex and requires the use of models, as the exposure
varies with changes in market conditions, expected cash flows and the passage of time, The assessment of credit risk of a
pertfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likeliheod of defaults occurring. of the associated loss ratios and of
default correlations berween counterparties. The Group measures credit risk using Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at
Default {EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD), This is the approach used for the purposes of measuring Expected Credit
Loss (ECL) under IFRS 9.
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Risk management {continged)
Credit Risk {continued)
Credit risk measurement (continged)

Credit risk grading (continued)

The Group uses interpal credit risk grading's that reflect its assessment of the probabiiity of default of individual
counferparties. The Group vses internal rating models tailored to the various categories of counterparty. Borrower and loan
specific information coliected al the time of application (such as disposable income, and fevel of collateral for resal
exposares; and turmover and industry type for wholesale exposures) is fed into this rating model, This is supplememed with
external data input into the model.

The credit grades are calibrated such that risk of defasll increases exponentially at each higher risk grade. For example, this
means that the difference in the PD between an A and A- rating grade is lower than the difference in the PD between o B
and B- rating grade,

The following are additional considerations for each type of portfolic held by the Group:

Retail:

After the initial recognition of credit grade, for retaif business, the payment behaviour of the borrower is monitored to
establish the grade of the customer based on the stage of delinquency/account conduct,

Corporate:

For corporate business, the rating is determined at the borrower level, A relationship manager will incorporate any updated
or new information/credit assessmenis into the credit system on an ongoing basis, In addition, the relationship manager will
also update information about the creditworthiness of the borrower every year from sources such as financial statements.
This will determine the updated intemal credit rating and PD.

Treasury

For investments in debt instruments, externat rating agency credit grades are used. These published grades are continuwously
monitored and updated. The PEY's associated with each grade are determined based on realised defaolt rates over the prior
12 months, as published by the rating agency.

Expected eredit loss measurement

IFRS 9 ouilines a ‘three-stage” model for impairment based on changes in credit guality since initial recognition as
sumsarised below:

A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in *Stage I’ and has its credit risk
continuously monitored by the Group.

H a significant increase in credit risk {"SICR"} since initial recognition is identified, the fisancial instrument is moved to
‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired.

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3°.

Financial assets in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that
result from default events possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based
on expected credit losses from all possible default events over the lifetime.

A pervasive concept in measuring the ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward-looking
information.
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Risk management {continued)
Credit Risk (continued}

Expected eredit foss miensurement (continned)
Stgnificant increase in eredit risk (SICR)

The Group considers a financial asset to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk when one or more of the
following quantitative, gualitative or backstop criteria have been met:

yaniiiative criteria

Corparate Loans:
For carporate loans, if the borrower experiences a significant increase in probability of defaglt which can be triggered by the
following guantitative factors:

A credit risk rating {CRR) downgrade of 2 or more nolches is considered significant in case the origination rating is below
EBB4, hence the refated facitity shail be classified at Stage 2.

H the origination rating is B+ (6+) and befow (inclusive), a CRR downgrade of | or more notches is considered significant,
hence the related facility shall be classified at Stage 2 since the movement of related PB is higher.

Loan facilities restructured ia the last 12 months;
Loan facilities that are past due for 30 days and above but less than 90 days;
Loan facilities without original rating and not within the investment grade,

Retqil:
For Retaif portfolio, if the borrowers meet ose or more of the following criteria:

Adverse findings for an account/ borrower as per credit bureau data;
Loan rescheduling before 30 DPD,
Accounts overdue between 30 and %) days.

Treasury:
Significant increase in probabiity of default of the underlying treasury instrument;
Significant change in the financial instruments' expected performance and bebaviour of borrawer,

Qualitative criteria;

Carporate Loans:
For corporate loans, if the borrower experiences a significant increase in probability of default, which can be triggered by
the following qualitative factors:

Past due

Net worth erosion

Fraudulent activity

EXistressed restructure

Financial covenanis breach
Significant operations disruption

Backstop:
A backstop is applied and the financial asset considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk if the
borrower is more than 30 days past due on its contracinal payments,
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b)

Credit Risk {continued)

(i} Definition of defanit and credit-impaired assets

The Group defines a financial instrument as in defawlt, which is fully aligned with the definition of credit-impaired, when it
meets one or more of the following criteria:

Quantitalive critetia;
The obligor is more than 90 days past due on its coniractual obligation to the Group,
Dualigative criteria:

The Group considers a default to have occurred with regard to particular obligors when either one of the following events
have taken place:

The Group considers that the obligor is unlikely to pay its credit obligation to the Group in full without recourse by the
Group to actions like realizing security (if held).

The Group puts the credié obligation on a nos-sccrual stagus,

The Group makes a charge-off or account-specific provision resulting from a perceived decline in credit quality subsequent
to the Bank taking on the exposure.

The Group selis the credit obligation at & material credit-related economic loss,

The Group consents to a distressed restructuring of the credit obligation where this is likely (o resul in a diminished
financiat obligation caused by the material forgiveness or postponement of principal, interest and other fees.

The Group has filed for the obligor's banksuptcy or similar order & respect of the obligor’s credit obligation to the Group,

The criteria above have been applied to all financial instraments heid by the Group and are consisteat with the definition of
default used for internal credit risk management purposes. The default definition has been applied coasistently to model the
Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Defauit (LGD) throughout the Group’s expected
loss calculations.

Asn insgrument is coasidered 1o no jonger be in default (i.e. to have cured) when it no longer meets any of the defauit criteria
for & consecutive period of twelve months,

Measuring ECL - Inputs, assomptions and estimation techniques

ECL is measured on either a 12-month (12M) or lifetime basis depending on whether a significant increase in credit risk has
occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit losses are the
discounted product of the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Default (LGD), defined
as follows:

PD represents the likelthood of & borrower defanlting on its financial obligation (as per ‘Definition of default and credit-
impaired” above), either over the next 12 months (12M PI)), or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation,

EAD is based on the amounts the Group is expecting to be owed at the time of default, over the next 12 months {12M EAD)
or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD}, For example, for a revolving commitment, the Group includes the current
drawn balance pius any further amount that is expected fo be drawn up to the current contractual limif by the time of default,
shouid it occur.
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Risk manngement (continued)
Credif Risk (continued)
Measuring ECL - Inputs, assumptions and estimation technigues {continued)

Loss Given Defauls (LGD) represents the Gronp’s expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. LG varies by
type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of collateral or cther credit support, LGD is expressed as a
percentage joss per unit of exposure af the time of defauli (EAD). LGD is calculated on 2 12-mosth or {ifetime basis, where
i2.month LGB is the percentage of loss expected fo be made if the default ocours in the next 12 months and Lifetime LGD
is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default oceurs over the remaining expected lifetime of the loan,

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD asd EAD for each quarterly period and for each individual exposure or
coliective segment. These three components are multiplied together and adjusted for the likelihood of survival (ie. the
exposute has not prepaid or defaulted in as earlier month), This effectively calculates an ECL for each fture month, which
is then discounted back to the reporting dafe and summed. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original
effeciive interest rate or an ppproximation thereof,

The Bfetime P} is developed by applving a maturity profile to the current 12M PD. TFhe maturity profile looks at how
defaults develop on a portfolic from the point of initizl recognition throughout the lifetime of the loans. The maturity profite
is based on historical observed data and is assumed to be the same across all assets within a portfalio and credit grade band.
This is supported by historical analysis.

The 12-month end lifetime EADs are determined based on the expecied payment profile, which varies by product type:

For amortising products and Dullet repayments loans, this is based on the contractual repayments owed by the borrower over
a {2 month or lifetime basis. This will also be adjusted for any expected overpaymenis made by a borrower. Early
repaymeni/refinance assumptions are also incorporated into the calculation.

For revelving products, the exposure at defaght is predicted by taking current drawn balance and adding & “credit conversion
factor” which allows for the expected drawdown of the remaining limit by the fime of default. These assumptions vary by
product type and current limit utilisation, based on analysis of the Group's recent default data,

Tie 12M and lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors which impact the recoveries made post defavit. These vary
by product type.

For secured products, this is primarily based on coliateral type and projected collateral values, historical discounts to
marketfbook values due to forced sales, time fo repossession and recavery costs observed,

For unsecured products, LGDs are typically set ar product level due to the limited differentiation in recoveries achieved
gcross different borrowers. These LGDs are influenced by collection straregies, including contracted debt sales and prices.

Forward-tooking economic information is also included in determining the 12M and lifetime PD, EAD and L.GD, These
assumptions vary by product type. Refer below for an explanation of forward-fooking information and its inclusion in ECL
calculations.

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation ~ such as how the maturity profile of the PDs and how coilateral values
change ¢ic. — are monitored and reviewed on a quarterly basis.
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I} Credit Risk (continued)

Measuring ECL - Inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques (continued)

Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL Models

The assessment of SICR and the caleslation of BECL both incorporate forward-looking information. The Group has
performed historical analysis and identified the key economic variables impacting credit risk are of) prices and UAE equity
prices.

Credit rating and meqsurement

The risk rating system is the basis for determining the credit risk of the Groug’s asset portfolio (except the retail postfolio)
and thus asset pricisg, portfolio management, determining fisance loss provisions and reserves and the basis for credit
approval authority delegation. A grading system is being used by the Group which is based on the Group’s internal estimate
of probability of defauli, with customers or portfolios assessed against a range of guantitative and gualitative factors,
inciuding taking into account the counterpasty’s financial position, past experience and other factors,

Credit approval

Major credit exposures to individual counterparties, groups of connected counterparties and portfolios of retail exposures
are reviewed and approved by the Group’s Management Credit Comgmittee (“MCC”} / Board BExecutive Credit Commitice
("ECC™) within the authorities delegated by the Board of Directors.

Credit monitoring

The Group regularly monitors credit exposures and external trends which may impact risk management outcomes. Internal
risk management reports dre presented fo the Chief Risk Officer and Board Risk Committee, containing informatios on key
variables; portfolio delinquency and financing impairment performance.

All Corporate accousts are monttored carefully for performance and reviewed formally on an annual basis or earlier. Group
has robust policies for client visits and monitoring of accounts to make sure that any concerns on the guality of the accounts
are addressed well in time. An exposure is categorised as watch list or nos-performing as per UAE Central Bank guidelines.
An early warning process is in place for regular review of accounts,

All non-performing accounis are monitored closely by the Remedial Management Usit of the Group directly reporting to the
Chief Risk Officer (CRO}. Such accounts are re-gvaluated and remedial actions are agreed and monitored. Remedial actions
inctude, but are not limited to, exposure reduction, security enhancement and exit of the account.

With respect to the Group's retall porifolio, asset quality is monitored closely with 30/60/90 days past due accounts and
delinguency trends are monifored continuously for each Retail Product of the Group. Accounts which are past due are
subject to colfection process, managed independently.

Credit mitigation

Potential credit losses from any given account, customer or porifolio are mitigated using a range of tools, Additional
suppott in the form of collateral and guaraniee is obtained where requived. The reliance that can be placed on these credit
mitigation resources is carefully assessed in light of issues such as legal enforceability, market value and counterparty risk
of the guarantor. Collateral types which are eligible for risk mitigation include: cash; residential, commercial and industrial
property; fixed assets such as motor vehicies, plant and machinery, marketable securities and bank guarantees ewc. Risk
mitigation policies conirol the approval of collateral types.

Collateral is valued in accordance with the Group's risk mitigation policy, which prescribes the freguency of valuation for
different collateral types to arrive at their fair values, The valuation frequency is driven by the level of price volatility of
each type of collateral and the nature of the undertying product or risk exposure.
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Risk management (continged)

Credit Risk (continued}

Credit risk exposure « Financial instrement subject to impalement

The follawing table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial assets which are subject to ECL. The gross
carrying amount of financial assets below also represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on these asseis:

Credit risk exposures relating to on-
halance sheet assets are as follows:

Cash and balances with central banks

Expected credit loss/ impairment loss
Carrying amount

Bue from banks

Investment-grade
BB+ & below

Expected eredit loss/ impairment loss

Carrying amount

Custamer exposures
Central Bank classification
Standard

Watchlist

Substandard

Doubiful

Loss

Expected credit loss/ impaizment loss

Carrying amount

Investments in Debty securities and Sukuk

Investment-grade
Loss allowance

Carrying amount

4%

2018 27
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 month Lifetime Lifetine
ECL EC). ECL Totat Tatal
AED 00 AED ‘08 AEDR'BOO  AED ‘0 AED 008
1,968,369 - - 1,968,369 2,261,183
1,968,369 - - 1,968,369 2,261,183
H94,749 - - 694,749 238,280
IRETS - - 3R475 160,324
133,623 - - 733,624 398,604
{163) - - (i64) -

733468 - - 733468 398,604
5,462,186 2588821 - BASLONT 11,538,400
- 657048 - 657,048 FO5,436

- - 1,387,847 1,387,847 773,936

- - 220,825 2,211,823 820,308

- - LAIGAGE  L5LG4A06 137,371
5462,186 3,245 869 5116078 13,818,133 £3,975,851
(44.646) £256,596)  (344L,516) (37427390 (1,510,217}
5,417,540 2,989,273 1,668,562 160675374 12465634
i4.646 - - 14646 394020

(17} - - (073 -

14,629 - - 14,629 399,070
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27 Risk management (cantinued)
by Credit Risk (continued)

Loss allowance

The following table explain {he changes in the loss alfowance between the beginning and the end of the annual period due to

these factors:

Due from banks
Loss allowance as at | Jensary
New financial assets originated

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2018

Customer exposures

Loss allowance as at | Janhuary
Transfers

Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 o Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 io Stage !
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer frore Stage 3 o Stage |
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
New originations and changes in
PDSLGDS/BEADs

Loss allowance os ot 31 December 2018

Investments in debts and sukuk - at
amortised cost

Loss allowance as at | January
Changes in PDs/LGDS/EADs

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2018

50

2018
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
12 month ECL Liferime Lifetime Total
AED'D6  ARDGH)  AED 060  AED 008
88 - - 8%
76 - - 76
154 - . 164
651,283 409,576 T40058  1,809917
(10,747) 10,742 . -
(310,041) - 510,944 -
2,484 {2.484) - .
. (3127,246) 327,246 -
13 - amn -
. L (%) .
87451 166001 1,854,297 1,932,842
44,646 256,597 3441516 3,742,759
411 . - 411
(394) - - (394)
17 . . 17
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27
b)

Risk management (continued)
Credit Risk {continned)}

Gross exposure

The following table explain the changes in the gross exposure between the beginning and the end of the asnual period due

to these factors:

2018
Stage | Stage 2 Seage 3
< Lifetime Eifotime
] i
12 month ECL. ECL ECL. Total
AED "0 AED'00B  AED ‘0d8 ALD 060

Due from bunks
Gross exposure as at | January 398,604 - - 398,604
New financial assets originaied 335020 - - 335,020
Gross exposure as at 31 December 2018 733,624 . - 733,624
Customer expostires
Gross exposure as at 1 January 9,957,515 2720201 1,294,135 139754851
Transfers
Transfer from Stage | 10 Stage 2 (2257538 2257538 - -
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 3 (2,388,925} - 2388925 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 149,931 (149,931} - .
Fransfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (1,582,729 1,582,729 -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage § 1,263 - {1,203) -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 780 (7901 -
Changes in PDs/LGDs/AEADs . - {157,748) (157,718}
Gross exposure as at 31 December 2018 5,462,186 3245869 5110678 13818433
Investments in debts and sukuk — at
amortised cost
Gross exposure as at 1 fannary 399,420 - - 399,020
Changes in PDS/LGDS/EADs {384,374} - - {384,374)
Gross exposure as at 31 December 2018 14,646 - . 14,646
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b)

Risk management (continaed)
Credit Risk (continued)

Other financial assets exposed 1o credit risk are as follows:

2018 7
AED O} ALDO0

Deposits and reserves with Central Bank 1,893,109 2,182,507
Duise From banks 133,460 98,604
Debt securities 14,646 3994520
Customer acceptance 350,945 556,856
Coniingent lighilities 517,266 1,273,274
Otiher financial assets 46,122 TAO89

3,556,148 4,893,344

The table below sets out the credit gnality of debt securities which: is based on the rating of the respective debt security, The
analysis has been based on ‘Standard & Poor's ratings (or ifs equivalent) where applicable

Governmient bonds Corporate bonds Total
2018 X147 2018 A7 M8 2157
AEDHK) AEDOH AED (D AEDON) AEDFHH AEDOHD

Rated A- and above - . 7,360 22,038 7,300 12038
Rated BBB+ to BB - - - 160,330 - [60,330
Unrated “ 135,346 7346 801806 1.346 216,652

- 135.846 14,646 263,174 14,646 399,020

Investments in Usnrated portfolio represents bonds with no specific credit rating, however the issuers are rated A+ to BBB+,

Impaired loans and advances

tmpaired loans and advances are financial assets for which the Group determines that it is probable thas it wil be unabile 1o
coilect all principal and interest due according to the confractual terms of the loan agreement(s). These loans are classified
as substandard, doubtful or foss, as appropriate, which is in accordance with the guidelines issued by the CB UAE.

Past doe but not impaired lonns

These are loans and advances where contractual interest or principal payments are past due bot the Group believes that
Hnpairment is vot appropriate on the basis of a repayment source such as assigned receivables, the level of security/coliateral
available and/or the possible scope of collection of amounts owed to the Group.

Allowances for impairment

The Group establishes allowance for impairment losses that represents its estimate for incurred losses in its loan portfolio.
The main components of this allowance are specific losses that relates to individually significant exposures and a collective
impairment established for groups of homogenecous assets in respect of losses that have been incured bur have not been
identified on loans that are considered individually insignificant as well as individually significant that were subject to
individual assessment for impairment but not found o be individually impaired. Assets carried at fair value through profit or
loss are not subject to impairment testing as the measure of fair value reflects the credit guality of each asset,
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27 Risk management (continzed)

b}

Credit Risk (continned)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off loans/securities (and any related allowances for impainment losses) when it determines that there is no
scope of recovery and the foans are uncollectible, The decision is reached afier considering infarmation such as the
oceurrence of significant changes in the borrower'’s financial position such that the borrower can 5o Jonger pay the
obligation, or that proceeds from coliateral will not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure and there is no scope 1o
purste any other avenues, by writing down the debt to a nominal value,

Coilateral and other credif enhancements

The Group holds collateral against funded and unfunded fnancing facilities in the form of cash margins, pledges/liens over
deposits, mortgage inferests over property, other registered securities over assets and guarantees. The Group sccepts
guaraniees mainly from well repiied local or international banks/financial instiutions, welt established local or
multinational organisations, large corporates and high net worth individuals. Estimates of fair vaiue are based on the value
of collateral assessed at the time of borrowing which are generally updated during annual reviews or eardier as the Group
deems it prudent given the circumstances and market trend / conditions. Coliateral is generally not held over Ioans and
advances 10 other banks or financial institufions, except when securities are held as a pant of reverse repurchase and
securities borrowing activity.

Itis the Group's policy o ensure that loans are extended to customers within their capability to service interest and repay
principal instead of relying excessively on securities/collaterals. Accordingly, depending on customers” credit worthiness
and the type of product, facilities may be unsecured. Nevertheless, colfateral is and can be an important credit risk mitigant.

An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against loans and advances to customers is

shown below, Collateral values reflect the maximum exposure or the value of the collateral whichever is lower,
08 27
AEDHS AL (K

Against neither past due nor impaired

Cash 2,582,330 28533128
Commercial and industrial properiy 2,338,626 2785586
Residential property 232 3,677
Equities 472,850 355,069
Other 330,547 720,544

5,724,625 6,718,004

Against past due but not impaired

Cash 48,502 26,405
Commercial and industrial property 518,047 458,978
Other 35,394 6,100

541,943 484,483

Against impaired

Cash 87932 50,180
Commercial and industrial property 937,740 290,786
Eguities 7,794 7787
Gther 133,187 24,110

1,166,653 372,863

Total collateral held 7,533,228 7,575,350
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b}

Risk management {continised)

Credit Risk (continued)

In accordance with the disclosure requiremens of BASEL 11 Pilier 3 and the CB UAFE guidelines, concentration of credit rigk

by industry segment and currency are as foliows:

Gross eredit exposure by industry segment

Agpriculture, fishing and related activities
Mining and quarrying

Manufaciuring

Electricity, gas and water
Construction

Real gstate

Frade

TFransport, storage and communication
Financial institutions

Girher services

Government

Loans W individuals

Loans 1o high net worth individuals
Others

Total

Gross eredit exposure by currency

Foreign currency
AED
Totat

Concentration by location

Uniled Arab Emiraies
(hher GUC.C.

Other Arsb countries
Western Enrope and others
Gross total

Logos and advances Debt secorities Due from banks
218 U7 s Myt 2018 2087
ALD '060 AL 00 AED "84} AL K AED ‘008 AED O3
2287 595 - - - -
4,53 18,186 . - - -
2,408,299 2438389 . “ - .
2,941 - - 61,564 . .
3,607,669 31276,7R9 - - - .
2,168,139 1980084 - 29,384 - -
1,367,926 1,550,956 . - - -
828 203,789 . " " .
1,343,972 1,268,769 7346 R3479 733,624 29K 604
1,183,650 £,314,303 - - - .
73276 408,318 - i54,211 - -
R1,255% k4,282 - - - .
#16,602 34,753 - " - .
486,759 604,837 7,360 69,382 - "
13,818,133 T3075 85 14646 3994520 733624 398,604
419,34 391,561 14,646 394 020 118,514 142,641
13,398,803 13,584,260 . - 615,110 255963
KN ENE R X AR L 14,634 359 530 Fi1624 308404
13,232,129 13,451,511 14,646 395020 b15,579 256,978
76,580 48 850 - - 18,223 13,426
183,108 157,990 - - 15,430 77,658
A26,316 317,508 . - 4,392 101,148
13,818,133 13,975,851 14,646 99130 733,624 398,604
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b)

Cruedit Risk (continged)

impaired loans and advances by industry segmest and geographical focation as defined by the CB UAE:

2048
Concentratian by industry segrent

Mining and quarrying
Manufacnuriag

Electricity, gas ami water
Construction and real estate

Trade

Transport, Storage and Communication
Financial nstiutions

(hher setvices

Loans to individuats

Eouns 10 high set worth individuals
Others

Toal

Concenlration by geography

Untied Arab Emirates
Oihers
Toial

2017
Concentration by industry segment

Mining and guarrying
Manufacturinig

Congtruciion and real estate

Trade

Transport, Storage and Communication
Financial Institotions

Oher services

Loans to individuals

Loans to Mgh net worlh individuals
Cithers

Fouah

Concentration by geography

United Arab Emirates
Others
Fotad

At reporting date the Group did not have any impaired loans overdue less than 90 days (2017: Nii).

55

Expected
Overdues 91t eredit Joss/ Net Adjustatents
daysand  impairment impaired
ahove sllowanee asgets  Writesolfs  Welte-hacks
AED "0t AED o8t AED ') AED 600 AED 060
4.53% 1382 3,149 - -
1,448,729 1,127,472 321,257 « 719
2,94} 264 L8676 - -
2,153,252 1,492,230 660,332 1,086 288
557430 452,054 105,336 206 3822
14,675 8,924 3,754 - .
31 487 B1,864 19,623 - -
135,507 61,745 762 1105 T
13,785 12,990 789 0 473
422437 138,894 283,543 75 .
252,305 52,954 159,351 - 108
5,110,078 3441516 1,668,562 2,542 5544
5,058,976 1415674 1,643,302 2,542 5,544
51,162 25,843 25,260 . -
5,114,078 3,441,516 1,668,562 2,542 5,544
- - . 17 .
531,679 448,002 59677 123,146 1,243
433,290 308,740 131,550 91,267 2509
479,419 345,907 §33,712 141 574 9,523
7.508 4,849 2,639 3,252 43
3032 16,625 6,403 18,541 13
14,558 11,041 kX1 8,753 122
74,808 14,808 . 26,345 5414
161,421 41,000 120,421 137 13,476
1,732.818 1,243,776 488,235 460,142 54,853
£,728.768 1,243,561 445,207 460,142 54,853
1247 215 3,032 . -
1,732.015 1,243,776 488,219 464,142 54,853
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27 Risk management (continued)

by Credit Risk {continned}

Analysis of the Group's exposure based on BASEL I} standardised approach:

31 December 2018

Asset classes

Claims un soversign

Claims on banks

Claims on corporates amd GRES
Claims included in retail portfolio®

Claims secured by commercial real estate

Past due loans

High risk calegorics
Other assets

Fotal

31 Pecember 2017
Asset classes

Claims on sovereign

Claims on public sector entities (PSEs}

Claims on banks
Claims onr corporates and GREs
Claims tncluded in retsi] porifolio®

Claims secured by commercial real estale

Past due loans

High risk categories
Oiher assets

Todal

All figures in AED 000
isk
nba % Credit risk mitigation (CEM) m_igﬁfﬁ
gheet assels
Gross Gross Expesure
owtstanding  outstanding herarepC R CRM  After CRM
2568031 - 2,068,031 - 2068034 108,769
140,91 911,783 1,652,753 - 165,753 259,754
5,329,793 LA E R 8,344,930 1,013,238 6,434,642 5,136,950
1,942,579 2,961,563 4,946,112 B79,182 4,066,530 2,825,138
304,376 97,211 401,587 17054 374,493 206,724
5,958,277 TR 3,358,940 156,330 3208610 3,368,612
734,576 - 599,23] - 599,211 #08,847
441,803 - 436348 - 439,348 364,758
17,567,607 7,787,356 21,816,938 2066844 12844094 13,252,552
2,736,900 - 2,736,900 - 2,736,900 97,872
79,588 - 79,888 - 79,888 -
483,683 1030 584,113 - 584,113 231,203
T.959.435 4,891,386 12,767,350 2054472 1LT12,878 8,260,627
pATENTH 3879995 6,852,869 1,089,057 5,753,882 4,109,557
256,613 301,348 550,719 0,952 536,767 288,718
2,483,949 229947 1,633,332 67,085 1,566,247 1,711,221
560,787 . 523,787 - 523,787 TREGR1
414,887 - 412,430 - 412,430 343,753
17,942,044 &.403,668 26,141,388 3,241,566 3200837 15,738,632

% Includes claims on SME portfolio (customers with annual turnover upto AED 250 million) amounting to AED 1,963 miliion
(2017: AED 2,945 miilion) for on balance sheet and AED 2,962 million (2017: AED 3,880 miltion} for off balance sheet.
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27 Risk management (continued)

b} Credit Risk (continned)

Analysis of the Group's exposure based on BASEL 1 Standardised Approach - rated and unrated:

2018 All figures in AED 000
Gross Credit Exposures
Expusure
Asset closses fated - Unrated pugore CRM
Claims on sovereign® - 2,668,138 2,068,031
Claims on banks 1,384,080 168,744 [.652,753%
Claims on corporates and ORI 7,300 8341465 R,344.930
Chaims included in retail portfolio - 4,954,142 4,946,112
Claims secured hy commercial real estale - 407,587 41,587
Past due loans . 6,753,104 3,358.946
High risk categories - 734,176 398,231
(Mher assels - 441 803 439,348
Total 1,391,310 23,963,654 21810938
M7
Gruss Credit Exposures

Raled Unrated Exposure
before CRM

Asset classes
Clairas on sovereiga® . 2,736,960 2,736 504
Claims on public sector entities (PSEs) 79,888 - 79888
Claims on banks 341502 242,611 584,113
Claims on corporales and GREs 98,765 1752087 12,767,350
Claims included in retail portfolio - 6,850,006 5,852 864
Claims secured by commercial real estate - 551,324 533,719
Past due Joans - 2,713,896 1,633,332
High rigk calegories . 560,787 523,787
Oiher assels - 414,887 412,430
Total 520,155 36,822,558 25,141,388

*Rated exposure includes exposure where risk weighied assets are calculated using exiersal rating
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c)

W

{it)

(iit)

)

(i)
(ish)

(iv}
(v)

Risk management (continued)
Liguidity Risk

Liguidity risk is the nisk that the Group will encounter difficuliy in meeting obligations associated with it's financial
Habilities as they become due and at a reasonable cost, Liguidity risk can be segregated into three categories:-

Mismatehs or structural Liquidity risk: the risk in the Group's estrent consolidated statement of financial position strocture
duse o maturity transformation in the cash flows of individoal positions;

Cosntingency liguidity risk: the risk that future evenis may require a significantly farger amount of cash than what the
Group's projections aliow. This can arise duc to unusual deviations of timing of cash flows (term liquidity risk), e.g.. non-
contractuat prolongation of loans, or unexpected draw downs on committed loan faciligies {call/ withdrawal liguidity risk);
and

Market Hauidity risk: the risk that the Group cannot easity offset or eliminate u position at the market price because of
market distuption or inadequsie market depth.

Management of liguidity risk

Liguidity risk management has remained al the belm of sisk management and receives close attention of the Board of
Birectors. The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to
the Group's reputation. All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by Board & ALCO, The
group is strengthening its Eiguidity and Market Risk framework including monitoring of FI Limits. The key elements of the
Group's liquidity strategy are as follows:

Maintaining a diversified funding base consisting of customer deposits (both retaii and corporate), wholesale market
deposits, maintaining contingency facilities, ansual budgeting and plasning exercise forms the basis for developing the
Bank's funding strategy.

Carrying a portfolio of high quatity liguid assets, diversified by currency and maturity;

Monitoring liquidity ratios (ELAR, ASRR, LTD}, maturity mismatches, behavioral characteristics of the Group's financial
assets and liabilities, and the extent to which the Group's assets are encumbered and hence not available as potential
collaterat for obtaining funding; and

Carrying out stress testing of the Group's liguidity position,

Maintaining adeguate Hquidity buffers.

Exposure to liguidity risk

The key measure used by the Group for managing liguidity risk is the ratio of net liguid assets (i.e. total assets by maturity
against total liabilities by maturity) and its loans to deposit ratio. The maturity profile is monitored by the management to
ensure adequate Hquidity is maintained.

As set ot in note 2, the Bank's liquidity has been adversely impacted as a result of the significant deterioration in its credit
portfolio, Consequently the Bank is in the process of increasing its share capital and the Central Bank of UAE has
committed to support it with liquidity support as and when reguired.
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27  Risk management (continned)

£)

Liguidity Risk (continned)

Maturities of assets and liahilities

Less than 3 months 1 year

3 manths ty t year  and above Total
At 31 December 2018 AED 60 ALY O AED D AED0®
Assets
Cash and deposits with cengral banks 1,959,187 - 9,182 1,968,369
Dwe from banks 733460 . . T33,460
Envestment securities 141,3H 7,346 7,300 135,947
Loans and advances w customers 1,473,408 4,361,251 4,240,715 10075374
Customers' indebledness for scceplances 191617 122787 36,571 350,945
Other assets 33040 24, 14K} 684,833 741,973
Totnd assets 4,532,013 4515454 4,978,681 14,826,068
Lishitities and equity
Daue to banks 50 - - 199
Deposits from cuslomers 6,5 50464 6,483,280 1,740 12635484
Liabilitfes under acceptances 191,617 122,757 36,574 350,945
Other liabilities - 137,686 13,676 40,892 202,254
Tolal liabilitics 6,479,966 6,719,714 T3 13,278,883
Net liquidity posittons (1947.953)  (2,204,260) 4,899,308 747,185

Less (han I months I year

3 months tel year  and above Total
At 31 December 2017 AED 00 AEDHR AEDroi AED )
Assels
Cash and deposits with central banks 2,252,001 - 5,182 2,261,183
Bue from banks 398,604 - - 308,604
Envestment securities 214,791 THR12 253,336 544,919
Loans and advances 1o customers 2,524,565 6,611,439 1920630 12465634
Customers” indebtedness For acceptances 393,228 83,148 82,440 536,856
Other assets 12,564 15,154 634,291 T22,000
Total assets 5,853,753 5,186,503 49088710 16949025
Liabilities and equity
Phue o hanks 2827 - - 2,827
Breposits from customers 6059351 6,985 871 S4R906  13,594.128
Liahilities under scceplances 391,228 83,188 82,440 556,856
Chiher liabilities 156,060 54,422 435,025 255,507
Totn] liabilities 6,609,466 T.123.481 676,372 14,408,318
Net Hguidity positions {7533,712) (936,887 4,232,507 2,539,607

Matarities of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the outstanding period from the reporting date 1o the
contracted or expected maturity dates,
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Risk manngement {continsed)
Liguidity Risk (continued)

Residual contractual maturity of fisancial Babilities

The following table shows the undiscounted cash flows on the Group's financial liabilities on the basis of their earliest
possible contractual maturity. The Group's expected cash flow on these imstrumnents may vary sigoificantly from this
analysis, for example demand deposits from customers are expected o maintain a stable or increasing balance and
unrecognized loan commitments are not expecied to be draws down immediately,

Carrying Undiscounted  Less than 3 3Imonths
2038 anmomnt cash flaws months trlyear 1108 yerr
ALT*O00 AED 000 AED 000 AEIYO0D AED'B00
Nun-tlerivative (inancial Habililies

e to banks 199 {199) {149) - -
Deposits from costpmerns 12635484 {12,95943%)  (6,170,9685) (6,751,647 {36,827
Liabilities for acceplances 350,945 (350,945) (191,617 (122,757 {36,572}
Oiher ligbiliiies 92,2558 (292,255} {137,686) {113,675} £40.8492)
Totl liabitities 13278883 (13,602,838}  (6,500.467) (6,988.081) {114,290
207

Nonlerivative financial lisbilites

Due 10 banks 2,827 (2,827 {2,827 - -
Deposits from CusOmKrs 13,594,128 (13.916,309F  (ROGLRMN  (1,236,111) (638,327}
Liahililies for acceptances 556,856 {556,856} (391,228} (83, 188) (82,440}
Other Gabilitics 255,510 (235,510} (156,060} {854,422} {45,025}
Total liabilities 14,46%9,32% (14,731,502} (8,611,988} (7,373,721) 48,790
Market Risk

Market Risk is the risk that changes in market prices - such as interest rates, equity prices and foreign exchange rates will
affect the Group's profit or the value of its holdings of financial instruments, The objective of market risk management is to
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters to ensure the Group's solvency while optimizing the
returs on risk.

Management of market risk
The Group separates s exposure to markel risks between trading and nos-trading portfolios. Trading portfolios mainly
mclude positions arising from market making and proprietary position taking, together with financial assets and liabidities

that are managed on a fair value basis.

The Group has a very limited trading portfolio, bence it is not exposed to any significant marke risk in respect of its irading
portiotio.

i}



Invest bank P.S.C.
Notes to the consolidated financial statements

27 Risk management (continued)

)

Market Risk {continged)

Exposure fo interest rate risk

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the future cash flows
or fair values of financial instrments because of changes in market interest rates. Inferest rate risk is managed principally
through mositoring interest rate gaps. A summary of the Group's interest rate gap position on non-trading portfolios is as

foliows;

Assets and liabiliics repricing profile

Effective
interest rate
%

Assets
Cash and deposits with central banks 169
g from banks 1.45
Investment securities 4.86
Loans and advances {o customers 6.64
Customers” indebtedness for acceplances
Ohther assets
Total assets
Liabilifies
Prue 10 barks
Deposits from customers 2.57

Liabilities under acceptances
Other Babiiities

Total liabilities

Intervst rate sensitivity gap

Cunwmlalive interest rate sensitivity gap:
As of 31 December 2018

Az of 31 December 2017
Fotal assets
Foral Habilities

Interest rate sensilivity gap

Cumulalive interest rate sensitivity gap.

&1

Lessthan 3 Imonthste 1 wmore than 1 Non-interest

months vear year sensitive Total
AED'TGH} AEDORNG AED (M3 ALY 0 AED 06}
LG - - #68,369 1,968,369
605,967 - - £27.493 73400
- 1.346 1299 141,302 155,947
1,134,396 2,617.082 107,832 216,064 10075374
. . . 350,945 350,945
- - - 741,973 T41.973
&,840,363 624,428 115,131 2,446,146 14,026,068
. “ - 19% Y
2610433 6,246,151 199,482 3579288 12635484
. - - 350,945 350,945
- - - 292,258 292,235
2610433 6246351 199482 4,222,617 13,278,883
6,229,936 (3,621,923 (84,351}  (1,776471) 747,185
6,229,934 2,608,007 2,523,656
7016973 5,231,109 - 400,543 16,940,223
2574,693 6985871 548906 3899848 14409318
4042284 (1,754,162) (548,906} 8006495 2,539,907
4,042,280 2288,L18 1739212
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27 Risk monagement (continued)

d)

Market Risk (continued)

The sssets and liabilities re-pricing profile has been determined on the basis of the final maturity period or interest re-
pricing periods at the reporting date, whichever is earlier. The matching and controlled mismaiching of the maturities and
interest rates of assets and lisbilities is fundamental to the management of the Group. I is unuseal for banks to be
compietely matched, as transacted business is often of vncerfain term and of different types. An unmatched position
potentially enhances profitability, but also increases the risk of Josses. The maturities of assers and liabilities and the ability
fo replace, at an accepiable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as they mature are important factors in assessing the Hquidity of
the Group and its exposure to chatiges in interest rates and exchange rates.

Sensitivity analysis - Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the sensitivity of asset and tiability values to chinges in the term structure of interest rates or interest rate
volatility, Interest rate risk arises from interest bearing financial instrumenis and reflects the possibility that changes in
interest rates wifl adversely affect the value of the financial instruments and related income. The Group manages the risk
principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and maiching the re-pricing profile of assets and lishilities. The Group also
assesses the impact of defined movement in interest yield curves on its net interest income. The following is the impact of
interest rate movement on net irterest income and regalatory capital.

Shift in yield curve 2018 217
AED 006  AED 000
+200 bp, 67,613 49,830

The interest rate sensitivities set out above are Hlustrative only and employ simplified scenarios. The sensitivity does not
incorporate actions that couid be taken by the management to mitigate the effect of interest rate movements.

Equity price risk

The primary goal of the Group's investment strategy is fo maximise investment returns, Most of the Group's eguity
investmenis are listed either on the Dubal Financial Marke! or the Abn Dhabi Securities Exchange. For investments
classified as fair value through other comprehensive income, a 5% increase at the reporting date would have increased
equity by AED 6.66 milion (31 December 2017 AED 6.79 million) and an equal change in the opposite direction wosid
have decreased equity by a similar amount. For investments classified as fair value through profit or loss, the impact on the
loss would have been an increase or decrease of AED 0.4 million (31 Pecember 2017; AED 0.5 million).

Foreign currency risk

The Group engages in Hmited rading in foreign exchange os its own account. 1ts freasury activities are mainly directed to
assisting Hs customers in masaging their foreign exchange exposures. A system of exposure limits is in place to controd
price risk on foreign exchange exposures and a system of individeal credit Iimits is in place 1o control counter-party risk.
The amounts mentioned in the table below reflect the equal but opposite potential effect on profit and equity based on a 1%
negative or positive currency fluctuation, with all other variables held constant, At the reporting date, the Group has
following net open currency exposures in respect of:

2018 217
Impact on Impact on Impact on Impact on
Totak profit equity Total profit equity
AED 100 AED 000 AED "G00 ALED 000 AED 6 AED K}
Einited States Dollar 278,187 2,762 2,702 543,236 5,432 5,432
Britigh Pound 1,208 12 12 251 3 3

Eurey {766 {8} (8} 218 2 2
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27  Risk management (continued)

e}

Operationnl risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect Joss arising from a wide variety of causes associsted with the Group's
processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other thas credit, market and hquidity risks
such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behavior.
Operational risks arise from alj of the Group's operations asd are faced by sl business entities,

The Group’s objective is 10 manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage 1o the
Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and innovation. In all cases, Group policy requires compliance with all
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

The Group has taken measures to put tools in place, to identify all such eperational risks. The Group has also taken
measures to kmplement processes and policies to mitigate the risk 10 an acceptable level and to avoid or minimise financial
losses and damage to Group's reputation,

Compliance with Group standards is supporied by & programme of periodic reviews underiaken by Internat Audit. The
resulis of Internal Audit reviews are shared with Avdit Committee and senior management of the Group. The compliance
with policies and procedures is sirengthened by Internal Audit reviews, while Compliance of regulatory requirements is
strengthened by Compliance department.

Capital risk management snd Basel I1 requirements
Capital allocation

The Group's lead regulator, the Central Bank of the UAE, sets and monitors regufatory capital requirements.
The Group's objectives when managing copital are as follows;

- Safeguarding the Group's ability to continue as a going concemn and increase return for the shareholders: and
- Comply with reguiatory capital requirement set by Central Bank of the UAE.

The Group's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as 0 maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to
sustain future development of the business, The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is also recognised and
the Group recognises the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

The Group also assesses its capital requirements internally taking into consideration growth reguirements and business
plans, and quantifies its Regulatory and Risk / Economic Capital reguirements within its inlegrated ICAAP Framework,
Risks such as interest rate risk in the banking book, concentration risk, strategic risk, legal and compliance risk, stress risk,
insurance risk and reputational risk are all part of the ICAAP,

The Group has determined its regulatory capital as recommended by the Basel 11 Capital Accord, in line with the guidelines
of CB UAE with effect from 2007, There have been no material changes in the Group’s management of capital during the
year, The CB UAE has advised that the minimum capital adeguacy ratio should be 12.38% analysed into two Tiers, of
which Tier | capital adequacy must not be less than 8.5%. In addition fo the above, Capital Conservation Buffer (CCB) of
1.375% has to be maintained for 31 December 2018, Collective impairment provisios eligible for inclusion in Tier 2 capital
shali not exceed 1.25% of credit risk weighted assets.

The capital adequacy ratic (CAR) as computed in accordance with the above guidelines at 6.23% is below the reguiatory
threshoid for 31 December 2018 of 12.38%.
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27 Risk management (continged)
The Group's regulatory capital position at 31 Decensher was as follows:

TIER 1 CAPITAL

18 2017

AED'HE  AED 000

Share capital 1,588,125 1,588,135
Legal reserve 450,688 450,688
Special reserve 450,68% 450,688
Fair value reserve (117,615) {97.21%)
Retained earnings {1,625.301) 147,619
Totat tier § capita 747,085 2,539,907
TIER 2 CAPITAL
General provisions 165,657 197.683
Total tier 2 capital 165,657 197,683
Fotal regulatory capital SIL842 2,737,590
RISK WEIGHTED ASSETS
Credit risk 13,252,852 15,738,632
Market risk 54,740 55,491
Operational risk 1348604 139440y
‘Total risk weighted assets (RWA) 14,655986 17,188,592
Total regulatory capital expressed as % of RWA 6.23% 15.93%
Total tier 1 capital expressed as % of RWA 5.10% 14.78%

Had the Strategic investment as discussed in note 2, "Recapitaization” been approved before year end, Capital Adequacy
Ratio ("CAR") compuiation wouid have been as follows, subject 1o any reduction in the CAR arising from any additional
regulatory provisions to be agreed upon by the Bank and CRBUAE (Note2)

2018
AED *008
Tier 1 capital 1,862,185
Tier 2 capitai 165,657
Total regulatory capitat 2,027,842
Tatal risk weighted assets 14,655,986
'Fotal regulatory capifal expressed as % of RWA (CAR) 13.84%
Fotal tier 1 capital expressed as % of RWA (CAR - Tier 1) 12.71%
Total capital requirement for market risk under standargdised approach as per BASEL If Pillar 3 is as follows:
1B - AED "06{ 2017 - AED B
Risk Risk
Capital weighted Capital weighted
required assets required assets
Interest rate risk - - - -
Bquity position risk 2324 29,056 1067 10,162
Foreign exchange risk 2085 25,684 4,760 43,379

Total capital requirement 4.37% 54,740 5,827 55,491
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28 Social contributions

Social contributions made during the year amount to AED 30,000 (2017: AED 78,000).

29  Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reciassifled where necessary 1o conform to current year's presentation.
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